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FELLOW SHAREHOLDERS:

Behringer Harvard REIT I, Inc’s initial offering of common stock
became effective in February 2003, but the fund truly launched in
2004. We provide investors the opportunity to participate in high-
quality institutional real estate investments through a vehicle that
utilizes institutional investment strategies, which are implemented
during the acquisition of a property, through the management
process, and ultimately, in decisions about how and when a
property is sold or the fund is liquidated or listed.

Through 2004, we significantly grew our portfolic and continued ou!
plan for geographic diversification by investing in seven properties
in six different major markets. In addition, we formed a strategic
alliance with one of the nation’s premier management and leasing
companies, Trammell Crow Company (NYSE: TCC) to provide us witt
Jocal market presence as we expand our investments nationally.

With our foundation solidly in place, we will continue to offe
investors high-quality real estate with investment strategies fo
today’s highly competitive investment environment.

NINE PROPERTIES AND COUNTING

In October 2003, we made our first investment of $6.5 million it
Minnesota Center in suburban Minneapolis. The property comprise:
276,425 square feet of rentable office space.

In 2004, we made investments in six more office propertie
totaling $148.5 million. These properties, located in the Washingtor
D.C., Baltimore, Denver, St. Louis, and Houston metropolitan areas
consist of 1,658,591 square feet of rentable space.

By February 24, 2005, we had invested in two additional propertie
— in Atlanta and Denver — totaling 479,329 square feet. The tote
of these nine properties represents more than 2.4 million squar
feet of rentable space across seven markets.

THE INDUSTRY FORECAST: POSITIVE

The real estate industry in 2005 is expected to be similar to 200¢
Record demand for real estate is expected to continue with a
abundance of capital seeking investment opportunities in commerci;




real estate. This demand continues as a result of, among other things,
upbeat forecasts for continued economic recovery and acceleration
in job growth, in addition to the attractive risk-adjusted retums that
investments in commercial real estate generally offer. Based on these
factors, we have a positive outlook for our success in 2005.

Our fund has demonstrated that a growing number of individual
investors now view real estate as a key asset class in their
core investment strategy - an essential for appropriate portfolio
diversification. As long as risk-adjusted returns remain appealing,
real estate investment vehicles will continue to attract capital from
this investor segment.

Given the positive interest rate climate and macroeconomic
environment, funds such as ours are not the only investors active
in real estate. Pension funds, along with other institutional buyers,
are projected to substantially increase their real estate allocations
over 2004. In this competitive arena, one of the significant
challenges we face is making investments that will maintain

appropriate returns for our investors.

IUMBERS MOMENTUM

Our total assets increased from approximately $11.7 million at the
end of 2003 to approximately $198.9 million at the end of 2004,
Through December 31, 2004, we received gross proceeds of
approximately $130.6 million in our first offering of common stock,
and nearly $155.0 million of total equity and debt was invested
in seven properties. In addition, distributions of $3.1 million were
paid to stockholders at an annual rate of 7 percent.

N SUMMARY...
Through Behringer Harvard REIT |, Inc., we provide the opportunity to
participate in institutional-quality real estate to a wide range of
investors. As we continue to grow and build our portfolio, we
will remain focused on creating both long-term value and attractive
» current yield.

Your management team thanks you for the trust and confidence
you have placed in us. We appreciate your support of our approach
to real estate and our vision for the years ahead.

ROBERT M. BEHRINGER
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

A

ROBERT S. AISNER
PRESIDENT AND CHIEF
OPERATING QFFICER

2004 HIGHLIGHTS

- Investment in six properties with a total equity
and debt of approximately $148.5 million in five
markets across the United States

-Total assets increased 17-fold over 2003 to
approximately $198.9 million

- Properties in which we invested increased to more

than 1.9 million square feet

- Strategic alliance formed with Trammell Crow
Company for property management and leasing

- Consistent monthly distributions paid at
a 7 percent annual rate

Behringer §27 HARVARD
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2004 - THE YEAR IN REVIEW

As we begin the third year of aperations for Behringer Harvard
REIT 1, Inc., we are pleased to report substantial growth in the
number of new investors generating an increase in equity of
more than 17-fold over 2003. Funds from Operations (FFO)
have also increased with the addition of portfolio assets and
introduction of income from tenants operating in a variety
of industries. Overall, execution of our long-term investment
strategy is taking shape.

2004 FUNDS FROM OPERATIONS (FFO)
In thousands
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An initial property acquisition at the end of calendar year 2003 -

lay the cornerstone, and portfolio acquisitions hit their stride in

2004. In the second year of asset accumulation, the portfolio
grew from one asset to seven with properties that contain 1.9
million square feet of institutional-quality office space. By the
first quarter of 2005, the portfolio had grown to nine properties.
These assets are located in seven distinct metropolitan markets
and offer the diverse benefits of port cities, energy-focused
industry areas, dynamic locations adjacent to important mass

transit hubs, and high pedestrian and vehicular traffic counts.

Here are some market highlights for cities with REIT assets:

- Minneapolis (Bloomington) provides a diverse economy with
long-term productivity and population increases. Significant
city infrastructure improvements in close proximity to our asset
are expected to enhance its attractiveness to tenants

once completed.

Houston offers a growing population and employment base
that is poised to expand, given current geopolitical activities
and the long-term demand for petroleum resources. One of our
assets Is situated in the city’s new Main Street - Light Rail
corridor, which is experiencing a tremendous influx of public

and private funds.




- St. Louis presents a central business district with potential as
signs of long-term growth - condominium, loft, hotel, casino,
and major league baseball stadium projects - are appearing in

close proximity to our asset.

*Washington, D.C., continues to lead the country in reai estate

fundamentals, occupancy, and rental rate growth.

- Baltimore draws from a different industry mix than Washington,
D.C., yet houses a very strong financial services base that

appears to be positioned for long-term growth.

- Denver offers a market poised to grow with the pain of the tech

and telecom bust firmly behind its real estate sector.

2004 GROWTH IN FUND ASSETS

In millions
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As part of our strategy, Behringer Harvard REIT I, Inc. takes
advantage of barriers to entry that exist in the very same major

metropelitan areas that are showing long-term trends for growth.

- Minnesota Center enjoys @ mature intersection adjacent to
affluent residential areas, where the only developable tract

is under significant constraint in our favor.

- Enclave on the Lake is situated in the unzoned city of Houston,
yet it resides in an office park that is protected by deed
restrictions and planned development, which will constrain

competitive pressures.

- St. Louis Place is in a central business district core that has

very limited space for new office development.

-The Colorado Building, in Washington, D.C., stands just a few
blocks from the center of the executive branch of the United
States government - the White House - and has clear barriers
to entry that include additional costs associated with our post

September 11, 2001 environment.



-Travis Tower, nestled in Houston’s central business district, is
on the new mass transit line and is readily accessible to two
permanent athletic facility developments - Minute Maid Park

and Toyota Center.

- 250 West Pratt stands like a monument beyond center field of
Baltimore’s renowned Camden Yards, has panoramic views of
the city’s famous Inner Harbor, and fronts the most desirable
street in the central business district that presents costly

barriers to new development.

-The campus for 9100 Minera) Circle (Cyprus Building) occu-
pies a desirable suburban Denver setting with environmental

barriers deterring easy office development additions.

While active leasing for our portfolio is under way, there are
always operational challenges to address. As an example, we
anticipated the Colorado Building's two-floor vacancy to be
filled by late 2004; however, the appropriate tenant has yet
to be identified. Interest has been strong, but the right fit is
proving difficult. Management is committed to resolving this and
other typical operational matters that are associated with a

growing portfolio of commercial office properties.

2004 LEASING
In thousands of square feet
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2004 TOTAL SQUARE FOOTAGE SHOWING REIT'S OWNERSHIP
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As of December 31, 2004, Behringer Harvard) REIT |, Inc. had
more than 4,200 investors. This large pool jof stockholders
serves as an endorsement of our approach to the Fund's

business and adds strength and commitment to our investment




strategies. Management is grateful for the support of these
initial investors who laid the groundwork for additional investors
in our follow-on offering and for the ability to continue acquiring

assets across major metropolitan markets in the United States.

Our investment strategy dictates certain institutional property
characteristics that should enhance our options for a portfolio
exit. These include asset homogeneity, executive caliber
amenities, high tenant credit worthiness, tenant diversity, and

high-traffic, high-demand locations.

The broad range of tenant types in our current portfolio reflects
a mix that we believe will help reduce the impact of industry
cycles on occupancy. Our tenant mix includes professional,
finance and insurance, real estate, public administration, infor-
mation, energy, and mining. Going forward, and in conjunction
with our leasing and management partners, we will work toward

broadening that mix to include additional tenant types.

We are pleased to have an agreement with Trammell Crow
Company to provide leasing and management across the United
States. This NYSE-traded company is one of the leaders in its

field and provides not only day-to-day management and leasing

2004 GROSS PROCEEDS AND USE OF PROCEEDS

In millions
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services at most of our properties, but also valuable local market
intelligence as we evaluate additional acquisition opportunities.
The strategy of partnering with Tammell Crow Company provides
many benefits, including an efficient way to establish a local
market presence without the attendant expense of office space

and personnel.

In summary, 2004 has been an exciting year in which the
foundation for our ability to achieve long-term success has been
established. Our management and leasing partnership, increasing
exposure to quality acquisition candidates, and continuing
inflow of new stockholders in our follow-on offering point toward

another year of building for the future.
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A GROWING PORTFOLIO OF INSTITUTIONAL-QUALITY ASSETS
In its short existence, Behringer Harvard REIT I, Inc. has assembled a portfolio of institutional-quality properties consistent

with our originally targeted market and asset characteristics. You can stay up-to-date on portfolio additions by regularly
visiting the Property Portfolio section of the Behringer Harvard website, www.bhfunds.com.

MINNESOTA CENTER MINNEAPOLIS, MN

Minnesota Center is a 14-story Class A office building located at a key intersection in the southwestern suburb of
Bloomington. The property enjoys a dominant location with extraordinary visibility from Interstate 494.

YEAR BUILT; 1987 TENANT MIX
ASSET SIZE: 276,425 sq. ft. 46% FINANCE & INSURANCE/REAL ESTATE M
ASSET SUBMARKET: 1-494 Corridor 35% INFORMATION/COMMUNICATION [
ACQUISITION DATE: October 15, 2003 13% PROFESSIONAL [
6% HEALTHCARE ]

TRAVIS TOWER HOUSTON, TX

Located in the Houston central business district, Travis Tower is situated on the city’s Main Street - Light Rail mass transit
corridor. This building represents an opportunity to enter a strong, high-profile office market with an asset in a strategic
location. Travis Tower has great upside potential and its investment basis is well below replacement cost.

YEAR BUILT: 1955 TENANT MIX
ASSET SIZE: 507,470 sq. ft. 78% ENERGY
ASSET SUBMARKET: Central Business District, 14% PROFESSIONAL [
Main Street - Light Rail Corridor 4% FINANCE & INSURANCE/REAL ESTATE [
ACQUISITION DATE: October 1,2004 4% OTHER L

9100 MINERAL CIRCLE (CYPRUS BUILDING) DENVER (CENTENNIAL/ENGLEWOOD), CO

Mineral Circle is a four-story office building situated on more than eight acres in the southeast Denver suburb of
Centennial, With quick access to Interstate 25 and convenient to Centennial Airport, the area is surrounded by Denver's
largest concentration of executive housing, two trophy malls, and several golf courses. [NQOT PICTURED]

YEAR BUILT; 1988 TENANT MIX
ASSET SIZE: 153,048 sq. ft. 100% ENERGY I
ASSET SUBMARKET: Southeast Suburban
ACQUISITION DATE: December 16, 2004
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ENCLAVE ON THE LAKE HOUSTON, TX

Enclave on the Lake is a six-story office
building located in the Enclave, a prestigious
comporate office park in the “Energy Corridor”
of Houston. This property is fully occupied

by two tenants. Lush trees and landscaped
winding pathways surrounding the property
provide unmatched aesthetic appeal.

YEAR BUILT: 1999

ASSET SIZE: 171,091 sq. ft.
ASSET SUBMARKET: Energy Corridor
ACQUISITICN DATE: April 12,2004

TENANT MiX

100% ENERGY W

250 WEST PRATT BALTIMORE, MD

The 250 West Pratt Building is located in the
revitalized center of Battimore's central commercial
district. This distinctive 24-story office tower is a
landmark easily recognizable over center field in
Camden Yards and offers panoramic views of the
city's historic Inner Harbor.

YEAR BUILT: 1986

ASSET SIZE: 368,194 sq. ft.
ASSET SUBMARKET: Central Business District
ACQUISITION DATE: December 17,2004

TENANT MIX

60% PROFESSIONAL

17% PUBLIC ADMINISTRATION
5% OTHER

ooagm

11% INFORMATION/ COMMUNICATION

COLORADO BUILDING WASHINGTON, DC

The historic Colorado Building is located two
blocks from the White House in the heart of the
East End of downtown Washington, D.C. This area
is home to the city’s finest concentration of
premier office buildings, luxury hotels, upscale
restaurants, and entertainment destinations.

YEAR BUILT: 1903

ASSET SIZE: 121,701 sq. ft.
ASSET SUBMARKET: East End
ACQUISITION DATE: August 10,2004

TENANT MIX

47% PROFESSIONAL
21% PUBLIC ADMINISTRATION

ooom

11% RETAIL
10% TRANSPORTATION .

ST. LOUIS PLACE ST. LOUIS, MO

St. Louis Place is a madem office building located
in the core of the St. Louis central business district
where lease rates are the highest in the region. The
property is an architectural standout and currently
counts a well-rounded mix of professional service
companies as tenants.

YEAR BUILT; 1983

ASSET SIZE: 337,088 sq. ft.
ASSET SUBMARKET: Central Business District
ACQUISITION DATE: June 30, 2004

TENANT MIX

74% PROFESSIONAL

11% PUBLIC ADMINISTRATION
3% OTHER

ogoonm

18% FINANCE & INSURANCE/REAL ESTATE

12% FINANCE & INSURANCE/REAL ESTATE




F |

Rt | i
gt ‘ |

-t T A

o

e
L aitd




COMPANY PROFILE

Behringer Harvard is a national real estate investment sponsor
offering a family of real estate investment products to the
public through the independent broker dealer community. Our
products include public and private non-listed RE[Ts, real estate
limited partnerships, 1031 exchange, and other real estate
investment programs that generally invest in institutional-quality
commercial real estate. The Company’s finite-life, non-listed
funds offer their securities in best efforts public and private
offerings and seek to produce attractive returns for their
investors through a balance of current yield and capital appre-
ciation. Behringer Harvard has headquarters in the Dallas
suburb of Addison, Texas, and is one of the nation’s fastest
growing real estate investment firms.

REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUSTS (REITS)

A REIT, or real estate investment trust, is a corporation that
combines the capital of many investors to acquire, finance, and
in most cases, operate income-producing real estate. Investors
can benefit by having a practical and efficient means to include
professionally managed commercial real estate in a diversified
investment portfolio.

A company that qualifies as a REIT is permitted to deduct
dividends paid to its stockholders from its corporate tax bill. As
a result, most REITs typically remit 100 percent of their taxable
income 1o their stockholders and therefore owe no corporate
tax. Taxes are paid by the stockholders on the dividends
received and any capital gains. To qualify as a REIT, a company
must distribute at least 90 percent of its taxable income to its
stockholders annually. However, like other businesses but unlike
partnerships, a REIT cannot pass its tax losses to its investors,

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This annual report contains forward-looking statements, including

discussion and analysis of the financia

condition of

Behringer Harvard REIT |, Inc. {which may be referred to as the

» o

“Company, “we,” “us, or “our”) and our s
anticipated capital expenditures required to co
amounts of anticipated cash distributions to ou

ubsidiaries, our
mplete projects,

r stockholders in

the future, and other matters. These forward-looking statements

are not historical facts, but are the intent, belief, or current

expectations of our management based on thei
understanding of the business and industry.

r knowledge and
Words such as

“may;’ “will,” “anticipates, “expects;” “intends,” “plans,” “believes,’

“seeks, “estimates,” “would,” “could,” “should,” and variations of

these words and similar expressions are inte
forward-looking statements. These statements
tees of future performance and are subject to ris
and other factors, some of which are beyond
difficult to predict, and could cause actual
materially from those expressed or forecasted
looking statements.

Forward-fooking statements that were true a
ultimately prove to be incorrect or false. We cat
not place undue reliance on forward-looking st

nded to identify
are not guaran-
ks, uncertainties,
our control, are
results to differ
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atements, which

reflect our management’s view only as of the date of this report.

We undertake no obligation to update or revise
statements to reflect changed assumptions, th

forward-looking

e occurrence of

unanticipated events, or changes to future operating resuits.

The forward-looking statements should be read

in light of these

factors and the risk factors identified in the “Risk Factors”

section of our Registration Statement on Form S-3, as filed with

the Securities and Exchange Commission.




UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

[Mark One]
Annual Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004
OR

O Transition Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934

For the transition period from to

Commission File Number; 333-91532

Behringer Harvard REIT I, Inc.

(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in Its Charter)

Maryland 68-0509956
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) (LR.S. Employer Identification No.)
15601 Dallas Parkway, Suite 600, Addison, Texas
(Address of principal executive offices)
75001
(Zip Code)
(866) 655-1605

(Registrant's telephone number, including area code)

Securities registered pursuant to section 12(b) of the Act:
None

Securities registered pursuant to section 12(g) of the Act:
None

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the Registrant was required to file such reports)
and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K (§229.405 of this chapter) is not
contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements
incorporated by reference in Part I11 of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K.
Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is an accelerated filer (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes O No
The aggregate market value of the Registrant’s common stock held by nonaffiliates of the Registrant as of June 30, 2004 (the last
business day of the Registrant’s most recently completed second fiscal quarter) was $41,194,810 and as of December 31, 2004 was
$130,892,820, assuming a market value of $10.00 per share.
As of March 15, 2005, the Registrant had 17,112,143 shares of common stock outstanding.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The Registrant incorporates by reference portions of its Definitive Proxy Statement for the 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which

shall be filed no later than May 2, 2005, into Part III of this Form 10-K to the extent stated herein.
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Forward-Looking Statements

This annual report contains forward-looking statements, including discussion and analysis of the
financial condition of Behringer Harvard REIT I, Inc. (which may be referred to as the “Company,” “we,” “us,”
or “our”) and our subsidiaries, our anticipated capital expenditures required to complete projects, amounts of
anticipated cash distributions to our stockholders in the future and other matters. These forward-looking
statements are not historical facts but are the intent, belief or current expectations of our management based on
their knowledge and understanding of the business and industry. Words such as “may,” “will,” “anticipates,”
“expects,” “intends,” “plans,” “believes,” “seeks,” “estimates,” “would,” “could,” “should” and variations of
these words and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. These statements are
not guarantees of future performance and are subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors, some of which are
beyond our control, are difficult to predict and could cause actual results to differ materially from those

expressed or forecasted in the forward-looking statements.

N u ” o« » o " ou "o "o

Forward-looking statements that were true at the time made may ultimately prove to be incorrect or
false. We caution investors not to place undue reliance on forward-looking statements, which reflect our
management’s view only as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We undertake no obligation to
update or revise forward-looking statements to reflect changed assumptions, the occurrence of unanticipated
events or changes to future operating results. The forward-looking statements should be read in light of the risk
factors identified in the “Risk Factors” section of our Registration Statement on Form S-3, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission as well as the following selected risks and uncertainties that could cause
our actual results to differ materially from those presented in our forward-looking statements:

Risks Related to Investments in Real Estate

o  Our operating results may be affected by economic and regulatory changes that have an adverse impact
on the real estate market in general.

e [ ease terminations could reduce the amount of revenue we receive from tenants.
¢ We may be unable to sell a property if or when we decide to do so.

o We may be subject to uninsured losses relating to real property or excessively expensive premiums for
insurance coverage.

¢ Properties that we purchase may be subject to development and construction delays and resultant
increased costs and risks.

o Competition with third parties in acquiring properties and other investments may reduce our
profitability.

e A concentration of our investments in any one property class may leave our profitability vulnerable to a
downturn in such sector.

o If we set aside insufficient working capital reserves, we may be required to defer necessary property
improvements.

¢ The costs of compliance with environmental laws and other governmental laws and regulations could be
significant.

o If we sell properties by providing financing to purchasers, we will bear the risk of default by the
purchaser.

Risks Associated with Debt Financing
e We will incur mortgage indebtedness and other borrowings, which will increase our business risks.
» We may be unable to secure mortgage debt at reasonable rates.

o Lenders may require us to enter into restrictive covenants relating to our operations.




Risks Related to Conflicts of Interest

Other Operational Risks

Item 1.

Formation

Increases in interest rates could increase the amount of our debt payments.

Our affiliated advisor will face conflicts of interest relating to the purchase and leasing of properties.

Actions by a co-venturer, co-tenant or partner might have the result of subjecting a property to
additional liabilities.

Our affiliated advisor and its officers and employees and certain of our key personnel will face
competing demands relating to their time.

Failure to qualify as a REIT would adversely affect our operations and our ability to make distr%butions.
Adverse economic conditions would materially affect our returns and profitability.

We may have to make expedited decisions on whether to invest in certain properties, including prior to
receipt of detailed information on the property.

If we lose or are unable to obtain key personnel, our ability to implement our investment strategies
could be delayed or hindered.

We may have increased exposure to liabilities from litigation as a result of our participation |by us in
Section 1031 Tenant-in-Common Transactions (“TIC Transactions”).

Our participation in Section 1031 TIC Transactions may limit our ability to borrow funds in the future,
which could adversely affect the value of our investments.

PART1

Business.

Behringer Harvard REIT 1, Inc. is a Maryland corporation formed in 2002, which has elected to qualify

as a real estate investment trust ("REIT") beginning with the year ended December 31, 2004. We were
organized to invest in commercial real estate properties (generally institutional quality office buildings and other
commercial properties) and lease such properties to one or more tenants. In addition, we may make or/purchase

mortgage loans secured by the types of properties we may acquire directly.

Substantially all of our business is conducted through Behringer Harvard Operating Partnership I LP, a

Texas limited partnership organized in 2002 (“Behringer OP I"). We own a 0.1% interest in Behringer OP I as
its general partner. The remaining 99.9% of Behringer OP I is held as a limited partner’s interest| by BHR

Partners, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company which is our wholly-owned subsidiary.

Our advisor is Behringer Advisors LP (“Behringer Advisors”), a Texas limited partnership formed in

2002. Behringer Advisors is our affiliate responsible for managing our affairs on a day-to-day basis and for

identifying and making acquisitions and investments on our behalf.

On February 19, 2003, we commenced a public offering (the “Initial Offering”) of up to 80,000,000

shares of common stock offered at a price of $10.00 per share pursuant to a Registration Statement on Form S-
11 filed under the Securities Act of 1933. The Registration Statement also covered up to 8,000,000 shares
available pursuant to a distribution reinvestment plan and up to 3,520,000 shares issuable to broker-dealers
pursuant to warrants whereby participating broker-dealers would have the right to purchase one share for every

25 shares they sell pursuant to the Initial Offering. The Initial Offering ended on February 19, 2005.

respect

On October 25, 2004, we filed a Registration Statement on Form S-3 under the Securities Act of 1933 in
of a second public offering of our common stock (the “Current Offering”). The Registration Statement




was declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 11, 2005 and extends until
February 11, 2007, unless earlier terminated or fully subscribed.

The Registration Statement relating to the Current Offering covers 80,000,000 shares of our common
stock plus an additional 16,000,000 shares of common stock available pursuant to a distribution reinvestment
plan.

As of December 31, 2004, we had accepted subscriptions for 13,109,282 shares of our common stock,
including 20,000 shares owned by Behringer Harvard Holdings, LLC (*Behringer Holdings”). As of December
31, 2004, we had no shares of preferred stock issued and outstanding. On May 27, 2004, the independent
members of the Board of Directors were granted options to purchase a total of 9,000 shares of our common
stock at an exercise price of $12.00 per share under our Non-Employee Director Option Plan. These options
vest on May 27, 2005 and expire on May 27, 2009. As of December 31, 2004, all 9,000 stock options were
outstanding and none had been exercised.

We admit new stockholders pursuant to the Current Offering at least monthly. All subscription
proceeds are held in a separate account until the subscribing investors are admitted as stockholders. Upon
admission of new stockholders, subscription proceeds are released to us and may be utilized as consideration for
investments and the payment or reimbursement of dealer manager fees, selling commissions, organization and
offering expenses and operating expenses. Until required for such purposes, net offering proceeds are held in
short-term, liquid investments.

Our common stock is not currently listed on a national exchange. However, management anticipates
listing the common stock on a national exchange or liquidation of our assets on or before February 20, 2017.
Depending upon then prevailing market conditions, it is the intention of our management to consider beginning
the process of listing (or liquidation) prior to February 20, 2013. In the event we do not obtain listing prior to
February 20, 2017, unless a majority of the board of directors and a majority of the independent directors extend
such date, our charter requires us to begin the sale of our properties and liquidation of our assets.

Investment Objectives and Criteria

Our objective is to invest in commercial real estate properties, including properties that have been
constructed and have operating histories, are newly constructed or are under development or construction. We
may also invest in mortgage loans or other investments related to real property or entities or joint ventures that
make similar investments. Our investment objectives are:

e to preserve, protect and return investors’ capital contributions;
* (o maximize cash distributions paid to investors;
o torealize growth in the value of our properties upon the ultimate sale of such properties; and

» to list the shares for trading on a national securities exchange or for quotation on The Nasdaq Stock
Market or, if we do not list the shares by February 20, 2017, to make an orderly disposition of our
investments and distribute the cash to investors, unless a majority of the board of directors and a
majority of the independent directors approve otherwise.

We cannot assure investors that we will attain these objectives or that our capital will not decrease.
Pursuant to our advisory agreement, our advisor will be indemnified for claims relating to any failure to succeed
in achieving these objectives, including for any reason identified in the description of risk of our business set
forth in the prospectus promulgated in connection with our public offering of common stock.

We may not materially change our investment objectives, except upon approval of stockholders holding
a majority of our shares. Our independent directors will review our investment objectives at least annually to
determine that our policies are in the best interests of our stockholders. Each such determination will be set
forth in the minutes of the meetings of our board of directors.




Decisions relating to the purchase or sale of our investments are made by our advisor, Behringer
Advisors subject to approval by our board of directors, including a majority of our independent directors.

Acquisition and Investment Policies

We primarily invest in institutional quality office and other commercial properties. These are properties
that generally have premier business addresses in especially desirable locations with limited potentiai for new
development or other barriers to eniry. Such properties generally are of high quality construction, offer
personalized tenant amenities and attract high quality tenants. We intend to hold our properties for aerriod of
time consistent with our planned fund life or eight to twelve years from the termination of the Initial (Offering,
which was February 19, 2005. Our intention is that the holding period of properties we acquire be consistent
with maximizing their potential for increased income and capital appreciation during this time. However,
economic or market conditions may influence us to hold our investments for different periods of time. Our
management believes that a portfolio consisting of a preponderance of this type of property enhances our
liquidity opportunities for investors by making the sale of individual properties, multiple propertis or our
investment portfolio as a whole attractive to institutional investors and by makmg a possible listing of our shares
attractive to the public investment community. Also, it is our management’s belief that targeting thls type of
property for investment will enhance our ability to enter into joint ventures with other institutional real property
investors (such as pension funds, public REITs and other large institutional real estate investors), thus allowing
greater diversity of investment by increasing the number of properties in which we invest.

Although our investments to date have been strictly institutional quality office properties, we are not
limited to such investments. We may invest in other commercial properties such as shopping centers; business
and industrial parks, manufacturing facilities and warehouse and distribution facilities in order to reduce overall
portfolio risk or enhance overall portfolio returns if our advisor determines that it would be advantageous to do
so. For example, we may invest in commercial properties adjacent to properties we already own or we may
acquire mixed-use properties that otherwise meet our investment criteria. In addition, our advisor may
determine that it would be advantageous to acquire commercial properties other than institutional quality office
properties in order to diversify our portfolio or in order to respond to changes in the real estate market! Further,
to the extent that our advisor determines it is in our best interest, due to the state of the real estate market or in
order to diversify our investment portfolio or otherwise, we will make or invest in mortgage loans secured by
the same types of institutional quality office and other commercial properties in which we intend to invest.

We will continue to seek to invest in properties that will satisfy our objective of providing cash
distributions to our stockholders. However, because a significant factor in the valuation of income-producing
real properties is their potential for future appreciation in value, we anticipate that the majority of properties we
acquire will have the potential for both capital appreciation and the ability to provide cash distributions to
stockholders. To the extent feasible, we will invest in a diversified portfolio of properties in|terms of
geography, type of property and industry of our tenants that will satisfy our investment objectives of
maximizing cash available for payment of distributions, preserving our capital and realizing capital appreciation
upon the ultimate sale of our properties.

Furthermare, although our spansor generally seeks to reduce conflicts that may arise between its various
programs by avoiding simultaneous offerings of funds that have a substantially similar mix of fund
characteristics, including targeted investment types. investment objectives and criteria, and anticipated fund
terms, there may be periods during which one or more Behringer Harvard sponsored programs are seeking to
invest in similar properties or are otherwise potentially subject to a conflict of interest.

We will not invest more than 10% of the net offering proceeds available for investment in properties in
unimproved or non-income producing properties or in mortgage loans secured by such properties. If a property
is expected to produce income within two years of its acquisition, we will not consider it a non-income
producing property.




Our investment in real estate generally will continue to take the form of holding fee title or a long-term
leasehold estate. We will acquire such interests either directly through Behringer Harvard OP I LP or indirectly
through limited liability companies or through investments in joint ventures, partnerships, co-tenancies or other
co-ownership arrangements with the developers of the properties, affiliates of Behringer Advisors or other
persons. In addition, we may purchase properties and lease them back to the sellers of such properties. While
we will use our best efforts to structure any such sale-leaseback transaction such that the lease will be
characterized as a “true lease” so that we will be treated as the owner of the property for federal income tax
purposes, we cannot assure investors that the Internal Revenue Service will not challenge such characterization.
In the event that any such sale-leaseback transaction is recharacterized as a financing transaction for federal
income tax purposes, deductions for depreciation and cost recovery relating to such property would be
disallowed. -

We intend that our investments will include properties located in central business districts of major
metropolitan cities where barriers to entry are judged to be high and selected suburban markets with identified
barriers to entry. Although we are not limited as to the geographic area where we may conduct our operations,
we intend to invest in properties located in the United States.

We are not specifically limited in the number or size of properties we may acquire or on the percentage
of net proceeds of the Current Offering or the Initial Offering that we may invest in a single property. The
number and mix of properties we acquire will depend upon real estate and market conditions and other
circumstances existing at the time we acquire our properties and the amount of proceeds we raise in our public
offerings of common stock.

Our advisor has developed and uses proprietary modeling tools that our management believes help them
to identify favorable property acquisitions, enable it to forecast growth and make predictions at the time of the
acquisition of a property as to optimal portfolio blend, disposition timing and sales price. Using these tools in
concert with our overall strategies, including individual market monitoring and ongoing analysis of macro- and
micro-regional economic cycles, we expect to be better able to identify favorable acquisition targets, increase
current returns and resultant current distributions to investors, maintain higher relative portfolio property values,
conduct appropriate development or redevelopment activities, and execute timely dispositions at appropriate
sales prices to enhance capital gains distributable to our investors.

In making investment decisions for us, Behringer Advisors considers relevant real estate property and
financial factors, including the location of the property, its suitability for any development contemplated or in
progress, its income-producing capacity, the prospects for long-range appreciation, and its liquidity and income
tax considerations. In this regard, Behringer Advisors has substantial discretion with respect to the selection of
specific investments.

Our obligation to purchase any property generally will be conditioned upon the delivery and verification
of certain documents from the seller or developer, including, where appropriate:

¢ plans and specifications;
e environmental reports;
® surveys;

» evidence of marketable title subject to such liens and encumbrances as are acceptable to Behringer
Advisors;

» audited financial statements covering recent operations of properties having operating histories; and

¢ title and liability insurance policies.

We will not purchase any property unless and until we obtain what is generally referred to as a
“Phase I" environmental site assessment and are generally satisfied with the environmental status of the




property. A Phase [ environmental site assessment basically consists of a visual survey of the building

and the

property in an attempt to identify areas of potential environmental concerns, visually observing neighboring
properties to assess surface conditions or activities that may have an adverse environmental impact on the
property, and contacting local governmental agency personnel and performing a regulatory agency file ]search in
an attempt to determine any known environmental concerns in the immediate vicinity of the property. A Phase I
environmental site assessment does not generally include any sampling or testing of soil, groundwater or

building materials from the property.

We also may enter into arrangements with the seller or developer of a property whereby the seller or

developer agrees that, if during a stated period the property does not generate a specified cash flow, the
developer will pay in cash to us a sum necessary to reach the specified cash flow level, subject in some
negotiated dollar limitations.

seller or
cases to

In determining whether to purchase a particular property, we may, in accordance with customary
practices, obtain an option on such property. The amount paid for an option, if any, is normally surrendered if

the property is not purchased and is normally credited against the purchase price if the property is purch

ased.

In purchasing, leasing and developing properties, we will be subject to risks generally incident to the

ownership of real estate, including but not limited to, the following:
o changes in general economic or local conditions;

¢ changes in supply of or demand for similar or competing properties in an area;

e changes in interest rates and availability of permanent mortgage funds that may render the|sale of a

property difficult or unattractive;

e changes in tax, real estate, environmental and zoning laws;

e periods of high interest rates and tight money supply that may make the sale of properties more

difficult;
e tenant turnover; and
o general overbuilding or excess supply in the market area.
Acquisition of Properties from Behringer Development
We may acquire properties, directly or through joint ventures, tenant-in-common investments

co-ownership arrangements, with unaffiliated third parties or with affiliated entities, including B
Development Company LP (“Behringer Development”), a wholly owned subsidiary of Behringer

or other
ehringer
Harvard

Partners, LLC, which is a wholly owned subsidiary of Behringer Holdings, and BHD, LLC, which is a wholly

owned subsidiary of Behringer Holdings. Behringer Development was formed to (i) acquire existing

income-

producing commercial real estate properties, and (ii) acquire land, develop commercial real properties, secure
tenants for such properties and sell such properties upon completion to us or other Behringer Harvard sponsored
programs. In the case of properties to be developed by Behringer Development and sold to us, we anticipate

that Behringer Development will:
e acquire a parcel of land;
e enter into contracts for the construction and development of a commercial building thereon

¢ enter into an agreement with one or more tenants to lease all or a majority of the property,
completion;

upon its

e secure an earnest money deposit from us, which may be used for acquisition and development

exXpenses;




e secure a financing commitment from a commercial bank or other institutional lender to finance the
remaining acquisition and development expenses;

e complete the development and allow the tenant or tenants to take possession of the property; and

e provide for the acquisition of the property by us.

We will be required to pay a substantial sum to Behringer Development at the time of entering into the
contract as a refundable earnest money deposit to be credited against the purchase price at closing, which
Behringer Development will apply to the cost of acquiring the land and initial development costs. We expect
that the earnest money deposit will represent approximately 20% to 30% of the purchase price of the developed
property set forth in the purchase contract.

Generally, the purchase price that we will pay for any property will be based on the fair market value of
the property as determined by our advisor with approval by a majority of our directars. In the cases where a
majority of our independent directors require, we will obtain an appraisal of fair market value by an independent
expert selected by our independent directors. In addition, in the case of properties we acquire from Behringer
Development that have already been developed, Behringer Development will be required to obtain an appraisal
for the property from an independent expert selected by our independent directors. The purchase price we will
pay under the purchase contract will not exceed the fair market value of the property as determined by the
appraisal. In the case of properties we acquire from Behringer Development that have not been constructed at
the time of the contract, Behringer Development will be required to obtain an independent “as built” appraisal
for the property prior to our contracting with them, and the purchase price we will pay under the purchase
contract will not exceed the anticipated fair market value of the developed property as determined by the
appraisal. We will not acquire any property from Behringer Development unless a majority of our directors,
including a majority of our independent directors, not otherwise interested in the transaction, determine that the
transaction is fair and reasonable to us and at a price no greater than the cost of the property to Behringer
Development or, if the price is in excess of such cost, that there is substantial justification for the excess cost and
that the excess cost is reasonable.

Our contract with Behringer Development will require it to deliver to us at closing title to the property,
as well as an assignment of leases. Behringer Development will hold the title to the property on a temporary
basis only for the purpose of facilitating the acquisition and development of the property prior to its resale to us
and other affiliates of Behringer Advisors.

We may enter into a contract to acquire property from Behringer Development even if we have not yet
raised sufficient proceeds to enable us to pay the full amount of the purchase price at closing. We may also elect
to close a purchase before the development of the property has been completed, in which case we would obtain
an assignment of the construction and development contracts from Behringer Development and would complete
the construction either directly or through a joint venture with an affiliate. Any contract between us, directly or
indirectly through a joint venture with an affiliate, and Behringer Development for the purchase of property to
be developed by Behringer Development will provide that we will be obligated to purchase the property only if:

» Behringer Development completes the improvements, which generally will include the completion
of the development, in accordance with the specifications of the contract;

e one or more approved tenants takes possession of the building under a lease satisfactory to our
advisor; and

o we have sufficient proceeds available for investment at closing to pay the balance of the purchase
price remaining after payment of the earnest money deposit.

Behringer Advisors will not cause us to enter into a contract to acquire property from Behringer
Development if it does not reasonably anticipate that funds will be available to purchase the property at the time
of closing. If we enter into a contract to acquire property from Behringer Development and, at the time for



closing, are unable to purchase the property because we do not have sufficient proceeds available for
investment, we will not be required to close the purchase of the property and will be entitled to a refund| of our
earnest money deposit from Behringer Development. Because Behringer Development is an entity without
substantial assets or operations, Behringer Development’s obligation to refund our earnest money deposit will
be guaranteed by HPT Management Services LP, our property manager, which will enter into contracts to
provide property management and leasing services to various Behringer Harvard sponsored programs, including
us, for substantial monthly fees. As of the time HPT Management Services LP may be required to Herform
under any guaranty, there is no assurance that HPT Management Services LP will have sufficient assets to
refund all of our earnest money deposit in a lump sum payment. In such a case, we would be required tof accept
installment payments over time payable out of the revenues of the operations of HPT Management Services LP.
There is no assurance that we would be able to collect the entire amount of our earnest money deposﬁ under

such circumstances.

Joint Venture Investments

We are likely to enter into joint ventures, tenant-in-common investments or other co-ownership
arrangements with third parties as well as affiliated entities for the acquisition, development or improvement of
properties for the purpose of diversifying our portfolio of assets. In this connection, we may enter into joint
ventures with other Behringer Harvard sponsored programs. We also may enter into joint ventures,
partnerships, co-tenancies and other co-ownership arrangements or participations with real estate developers
owners and other third parties for the purpose of developing, owning and operating real propertﬂes In
determining whether to invest in a particular joint venture, Behringer Advisors will evaluate the real ﬂroperty
that such joint venture owns or is being formed to own under the same criteria as our other potential

investments.

We intend to enter into joint ventures with other Behringer Harvard sponsored programs |for the
acquisition of properties, but we may only do so provided that:

e a majority of our directors, including a majority of the independent directors, approve the
transaction as being fair and reasonable to us and on substantially the same terms and conditions as
those received by other joint venturers; and

o we will have a right of first refusal to buy if such co-venturer elects to sell its interest in the property
held by the joint venture.

In the event that the co-venturer elects to sell property held in any such joint venture, however, we may
not have sufficient funds to exercise our right of first refusal. In the event that any joint venture with an
affiliated entity holds interests in more than one property, the interest in each such property may be specially
allocated based upon the respective proportion of funds invested by each co-venturer in each such property.
Entering into joint ventures with other Behringer Harvard sponsored programs will result in certain conflicts of
interest.

We expect that from time to time our advisor will be presented with an opportunity to purchase all or a
portion of a mixed-use property. In such instances, it is possible that we would work in concert with other
Behringer Harvard sponsored programs to apportion the assets within the property among us and the other
Behringer Harvard sponsored programs in accordance with the investment objectives of the various programs.
After such apportionment, the mixed-use property would be owned by two or more Behringer Harvard
sponsored programs or joint ventures comprised of Behringer Harvard sponsored programs. The negotiation of
how to divide the property among the various Behringer Harvard sponsored programs will not be arm'’s-length
and conflicts of interest will arise in the process. It is possible that in connection with the purchase of a mixed-
use property or in the course of negotiations with other Behringer Harvard sponsored programs to jallocate
portions of such mixed-use property, we may be required to purchase a property that we would otherwise
consider inappropriate for our portfolio, in order to also purchase a property that our advisor considers desirable.
Although independent appraisals of the assets comprising the mixed-use property will be conducted jprior to
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apportionment, it is possible that we could pay more for an asset in this type of transaction than we would pay in
an arm's-length transaction with an unaffiliated third-party.

Section 1031 Exchange Transactions

Behringer Holdings or its affiliates sponsor private offerings of tenant-in-common interests through
special purpose entities (a “Behringer Exchange LLC") for the purpose of facilitating the acquisition of real
estate properties to be owned in co-tenancy arrangements with persons, referred to herein as “1031
Participants,” who wish to invest the proceeds from a prior sale of real estate in another real estate investment
for purposes of qualifying for like-kind exchange treatment under Section 1031 of the Internal Revenue Code.
We refer to these transactions as “Section 1031 TIC Transactions.” Typically, in such a transaction, a Behringer
Exchange LLC (many times along with a Behringer Harvard fund such as us) will purchase a property directly
from a seller. The Behringer Exchange LLC then will sell to the 1031 Participants its portion of such purchase
as tenant-in-common interests in the property. The price paid by the 1031 Participants for such interests will be
higher than that paid by the Behringer Exchange LLC or by us.

The majority of our portfolio acquisitions made to date have been made with Behringer Harvard
Exchange Entities in Section 1031 TIC Transactions, and we expect that many of our future acquisitions will be
made in similar transactions. Our management believes that there are benefits to the publicly held Behringer
Harvard sponsored programs in participating in the Section 1031 TIC Transactions sponsored by Behringer
Holdings or its affiliates. The Section 1031 TIC Transactions provide opportunities for us to become co-
investors in properties at the sponsor’s cost, in contrast to the higher prices paid to a Behringer Harvard
Exchange Entity by third-party tenant-in-common participants for comparable tenant-in-common interests.
Participation in these transactions may permit us to (i) invest proceeds of public offerings of stock earlier than
we might otherwise be able to do if we were required to acquire the entire property, (ii) obtain increased
portfolio diversification by applying our capital in lesser amounts over a greater number of properties, (iii)
acquire interests in properties that we would be unable to acquire using only our own capital resources, and (iv)
have opportunities to increase our interests in the related properties pursuant to certain purchase options granted
to us as a result of our affiliation with the sponsor of the Section 1031 TIC Transaction.

Properties acquired by a Behringer Exchange LLC in connection with the Section 1031 TIC
Transactions generally are financed by obtaining a new first mortgage secured by the property acquired. In
order to finance the remainder of the purchase price for properties to be acquired, a Behringer Exchange LLC
may obtain a short-term loan from an institutional lender for each property. Following its acquisition of a
property, the Behringer Exchange LLC seeks to sell co-tenancy interests to 1031 Participants, the proceeds of
which are used to repay any short-term loan. At the closing of each property acquired by a Behringer Exchange
LLC, we may enter into a contractual arrangement, providing that (i) in the event that the Behringer Exchange
LLC is unable to sell all of the co-tenancy interests in that property to 1031 Participants, we will purchase, at the
Behringer Exchange LLC’s cost, any co-tenancy interests remaining unsold; (ii) we will guarantee the short-
term loan associated with the purchase of the property; and/or (iii) we will provide security for the guarantee of
such loan. In connection with such transactions, we also may enter into one or more contractual arrangements
obligating us to purchase co-tenancy interests in a particular property directly from the 1031 Participants. The
Behringer Exchange LLC will pay us a fee in consideration for our agreeing to do (ii) or (iii) above. Generally,
the amount of the fee will be equal to 1% of the amount of the obligation to which we are exposed or the amount
of the short-term loan obtained by the Behringer Exchange LLC.

Our board of directors, including a majority of our independent directors, must approve each property or
tenant-in-common interest acquired by us pursuant to any Section 1031 TIC Transaction. Accordingly, we will
only participate in a Section 1031 TIC Transaction where the property purchased meets our investment
objectives. Under any such program, we would not execute any agreement providing for the potential purchase
of any unsold co-tenancy interests from a Behringer Exchange LLC or any co-tenancy interests directly from the
1031 Participants until a majority of our directors, including a majority of our independent directors not
otherwise interested in the transaction, approve of the transaction as being fair, competitive and commercially
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reasonable to us and at a price to us no greater than the cost of the co-tenancy interests to the Bekllringer
Exchange LLC. If the price to us would be in excess of such cost, our directors must find substantial
justification for such excess and that such excess is reasonable. In addition, under any such program, ve will
require that a fair market value appraisal for each property must be obtained from an independent|expert
selected by our independent directors and in no event would we purchase co-tenancy interests at a price that
exceeds the current appraised value of the property interests.

All purchasers of co-tenancy interests, including us, execute a tenant-in-common agreement with the
other purchasers of co-tenancy interests in the property and a property management agreement providing] for the
property management and leasing of the property by HPT Management Services LP, our property manager, or
its subsidiaries. The tenant-in-common agreement generally would provide that all significant decisions, such as
the sale, exchange, lease, re-lease of the property, or any loans or modifications of any loans related to the
property, require unanimous approval of all tenant-in-common owners, subject to the deemed consent for failure
to respond to any request for consent prior to the applicable deadline and our right to purchase the inte‘rests of
owners who fail to consent with the majority. The tenant-in-common agreement generally also would provide a
first purchase right to us and options for us to purchase the interests of the other owners at any time within the
last year of any mortgage loan on the related property or after we announce our intention to liquidate our
portfolio or list our equity on a stock exchange. In addition, the tenant-in-common agreement would pro{/ide for
the payment of property management fees to HPT Management of up to 4.5% of gross revenues plus]leasing
commissions based upon the customary leasing commission applicable to the geographic location of the
property. Accordingly, in the event that we purchase co-tenancy interests pursuant to one or more of these
contractual arrangements, we would be subject to various risks associated with co-tenancy arrangements|that are
not otherwise present in real estate investments, such as the risk that the interests of the 1031 Participejnts will

become adverse to our interests.
Making Loans and Investments in Mortgages

We may, from time to time, make mortgage loans, short-term loans in connection with Section 1031
TIC Transactions, and other loans relating to real property, including loans in connection with the acquisition of
investments in entities that own real property. Although we do not have a formal policy, our criteria for
investing in loans will be substantially the same as those involved in our investment in properties. We may
invest in mortgage loans (including but not limited to investments in first, second and third mortgaée loans,
wraparound mortgage loans, construction mortgage loans on real property, and loans on 1easehold! interest
mortgages). We also may invest in participations in mortgage loans. Further, we may invest in unsecured loans
or loans secured by assets other than real estate. We currently do not expect to make significant investments in
loans, although we are not limited as to the amount of gross offering proceeds that we may apply to our loan
investments. We will not make unsecured loans or loans not secured by mortgages unless such lpans are
approved by a majority of our independent directors. We will not make or invest in mortgage loans unless we
obtain an appraisal concerning the underlying property from a certified independent appraiser except for
mortgage loans insured or guaranteed by a government or government agency. We will maintain each appraisal
in our records for at least five years, and will make it available during normal business hours for inspegﬁtion and
duplication by any stockholder at such stockholder’s expense. In addition to the appraisal, we will seek to
obtain a customary lender’s title insurance policy or commitment as to the priority of the mortgage or Tondition

of the title.

We will not make or invest in mortgage loans on any one property if the aggregate amount of all
mortgage loans outstanding on the property, including our borrowings, would exceed an amount equal t0 85% of
the appraised value of the property, unless we find substantial justification due to the presence |of other
underwriting criteria.




Borrowing Policies

We intend to use debt secured by real estate as a means of providing additional funds for the acquisition
of properties and the diversification of our portfolio. By operating on a leveraged basis, management expects
that we will have more funds available for investment in properties and other investments. This will enable us
to make more investments than would otherwise be possible, resulting in a more diversified portfolio. Although
management expects the liability for the repayment of indebtedness to be limited to the value of the property
securing the liability and to the rents or profits derived therefrom, there can be no assurance that lender recourse
will be limited to the property financed by that lender. Furthermore, the use of leverage increases the risk of
default on the mortgage payments and a subsequent foreclosure of a particular property. To the extent that we
do not obtain mortgage loans on our properties, our ability to acquire additional properties will be restricted.
When interest rates on mortgage loans are high or financing is otherwise unavailable on a timely basis, we may
purchase certain properties for cash with the intention of obtaining a mortgage loan for a portion of the purchase
price at a later time. From time to time, when interest rates are deemed to be favorably low, we may enter into
rate lock agreements that allow us to fix an interest rate for future loans during a specified period of time. We
will incur certain costs associated with such rate lock agreements and, if we fail to enter into a loan during the
specified time, may forfeit certain deposits made to secure such arrangements.

There is no limitation on the amount we may invest in any single improved property or other asset or on
the amount we can borrow for the purchase of any individual property or other investment. Under our charter,
the maximum amount of our indebtedness may not exceed 300% of our net assets as of the date of any
borrowing unless any excess is approved by a majority of our independent directors, in which case we will
disclose the excess borrowing to our stockholders in our next quarterly report, including the justification for
such excess.

We expect to borrow up to 55% of the aggregate value of our assets if interest rates and loan terms are
favorable. Our board of directors has adopted a policy that we will generally limit our aggregate borrowings to
approximately 55% of the aggregate value of our assets as of the date of any borrowing, unless substantial
justification exists that borrowing a greater amount is in our best interests. Our policy limitation does not apply
to individual properties and only will apply once we have invested most of the capital from our offerings of
common stock. As a result, it can be expected that, with respect to the acquisition of one or more of our
properties, we may incur indebtedness of more than 55% of the asset value of the property acquired, and that our
debt levels likely will be higher until we have invested most of the capital from our offerings of common stock.
Our board of directors must review our aggregate borrowings at least quarterly. As of December 31, 2004, we
had an aggregate debt leverage ratio of 42% of the value of our total assets.

We may not borrow money from any of our directors or from Behringer Advisors and its affiliates
unless such loan is approved by a majority of the directors, including a majority of the independent directors not
otherwise interested in the transaction upon a determination by such directors that the transaction is fair,
competitive and commercially reasonable and no less favorable to us than a comparable loan between
unaffiliated parties.

For services in connection with the origination or refinancing of any debt financing obtained by or for
us, we will pay our advisor a debt financing fee equal to 1% of the amount available under such financing. Debt
financing fees payable from loan proceeds from permanent financing will be paid to our advisor as we acquire
such permanent financing. In the event our advisor subcontracts with a third-party for the provision of financing
coordination services with respect to a particular financing or financings, the advisor will compensate the third-
party through the debt financing fee.

Conflicts of Interest

We are subject to various conflicts of interest arising out of our relationship with Behringer Advisors,
our advisor, and our other affiliates, including conflicts related to the arrangements pursuant to which Behringer
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Advisors and its affiliates are compensated by us. Our agreements and arrangements with our advisor and its
affiliates, including those relating to compensation, are not the result of arm’s-length negotiations.

Our advisor and its affiliates try to balance our interests with their duties to other Behringer Harvard
sponsored programs. However, to the extent that our advisor or its affiliates take actions that are more favorable
to other entities than to us, these actions could have a negative impact on our financial performance and,
consequently, on distributions to investors and the value of our stock. In addition, our directors, officers and
certain of our stcckholders may engage for their own account in business activities of the types conducted or to
be conducted by us and our subsidiaries.

Every transaction that we enter into with Behringer Advisors or its affiliates is subject to an inherent
conflict of interest. Certain of these conflicts of interest are mentioned below or in the prospectus for the
Current Offering. Our board of directors may encounter conflicts of interest in enforcing our rights against any
affiliate in the event of a default by or disagreement with an affiliate or in invoking powers, rights or options
pursuant to any agreement between us and Behringer Advisors or any of its affiliates. A majority of the
independent directors who are otherwise disinterested in the transaction must approve each transaction between
us and Behringer Advisors or any of its affiliates as being fair and reasonable to us and on terms and conditions
no less favorable to us than those available from unaffiliated third parties.

Interests in Other Real Estate Programs

Behringer Advisors and its partners, officers, employees or affiliates are advisors or general partners of
other Behringer Harvard programs, including partnerships and other programs that have investment objectives
similar to ours, and we expect that they will organize other such programs in the future. Behringer Advisors and
such officers, employees or affiliates have legal and financial obligations with respect to these programs that are
similar to their obligations to us. As general partners, they may have contingent liability for the obligations of
programs structured as partnerships, which, if such obligations were enforced against them, could result in
substantial reduction of their net worth.

Currently, affiliates of Behringer Advisors recently sponsored two public real estate programs with
similar investment objectives as ours, Behringer Harvard Mid-Term Value Enhancement Fund I LP and
Behringer Harvard Short-Term Opportunity Fund I LP. The public offerings with respect to those programs
terminated on February 19, 2005. In addition, affiliates of Behringer Advisors are sponsoring a public offering
by a newly formed entity, Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT I, Inc. In addition, affiliates of Behringer
Advisors are sponsoring private offerings of real estate programs that have investment objectives similar to ours.
Robert M. Behringer, our founder, President, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Investment Officer, and his
affiliates also have sponsored other privately offered real estate programs that have a mix of fund characteristics,
including targeted investment types, investment objectives and criteria, and anticipated fund terms, that are
substantially similar to ours, and which are still operating and may acquire additional properties in the future.
Behringer Advisors and its affiliates will likely experience conflicts of interest as they simultaneously perform
services for us and other Behringer Harvard sponsored programs. However, to date, the investment strategies of
the various Behringer Harvard sponsored programs have differed enough that there has not been a significant
conflict of interest in the allocation of properties.

In the event that we, or any other Behringer Harvard program or other entity formed or managed by
Behringer Advisors or its affiliates, are in the market for investments similar to those we intend to make,
Behringer Advisors will review the investment portfolio of each such affiliated entity prior to making a decision
as to which Behringer Harvard program will purchase such properties or make or invest in such mortgage loans.

Behringer Advisors or its affiliates may acquire, for its own account or for private placement, properties
that it deems not suitable for purchase by us, whether because of the greater degree of risk, the complexity of
structuring inherent in such transactions, financing considerations or for other reasons, including properties with
potential for attractive investment returns.
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Other Activities of Behringer Advisors and Its Affiliates

We rely on Behringer Advisors for the day-to-day operation of our business. As a result of the interests
of members of its management in other Behringer Harvard sponsored programs and the fact that they have also
engaged and will continue to engage in other business activities, Behringer Advisors and its affiliates will have
conflicts of interest in allocating their time between us and other Behringer Harvard sponsored programs and
other activities in which they are involved. However, Behringer Advisors believes that it and its affiliates have
sufficient personnel to discharge fully their responsibilities to all of the Behringer Harvard sponsored programs
and other ventures in which they are involved.

In addition, each of our executive officers, including Robert M. Behringer, who also serves as the
chairman of our board of directors, are also officers of our advisor, our property manager, our dealer manager
and other affiliated entities. As a result, these individuals owe fiduciary duties to these other entities, which may
conflict with the fiduciary duties that they owe to us and our stockholders.

Behringer Advisors or any of its affiliates may temporarily enter into contracts relating to investment in
properties, all or a portion of which is to be assigned to us prior to closing, or may purchase property in their
own name and temporarily hold title for us provided that such property or applicable portion thereof is
purchased by us at a price no greater than the cost of such property, including acquisition and carrying costs, to
Behringer Advisors or its affiliate. Further, Behringer Advisors or such affiliate may not have held title to any
such property on our behalf for more than twelve months prior to the commencement of the Current Offering;
Behringer Advisors or its affiliates will not sell property to us if the cost of the property exceeds the funds
reasonably anticipated to be available for us to purchase any such property; and all profits and losses during the
period any such property is held by Behringer Advisors or its affiliates will accrue to us. In no event may we
loan funds to Behringer Advisors or any of its affiliates (other than in connection with certain mortgage loans
approved by a majority of our independent directors), or enter into agreements with Behringer Advisors or its
affiliates for the provision of insurance covering us or any of our properties.

Competition in Acquiring Properties, Finding Tenants and Selling Properties

Conflicts of interest will exist to the extent that we may acquire properties in the same geographic areas
where properties owned by other Behringer Harvard sponsored programs are located. In such a case, a conflict
could arise in the leasing of properties in the event that we and another Behringer Harvard program were to
compete for the same tenants in negotiating leases, or a conflict could arise in connection with the resale of
properties in the event that we and another Behringer Harvard program were to attempt to sell similar properties
at the same time, including in particular in the event another Behringer Harvard sponsored program liquidates at
the same time we do. Conlflicts of interest may also exist at such time as we or our affiliates managing property
on our behalf seek to employ developers, contractors or building managers as well as under other circumstances.
Our executive officers and the executive officers of our advisor also are the executive officers of other advisors
of Behringer Harvard sponsored REITs, the general partners of limited partnerships and/or the advisors or
fiduciaries of other Behringer Harvard sponsored programs, and these entities are and will be under common
ownership. Additionally, the executive officers of our advisor are executive officers of HPT Management
Services LP, our property manager. There is a risk that a potential investment would be suitable for one or more
other Behringer Harvard sponsored programs, in which case the executive officers of our advisor will have a
conflict of interest in allocation of the investment to us or another program. There is a risk that our advisor will
choose a property that provides lower returns to us than a property purchased by another Behringer Harvard
sponsored program. Additionally, our property manager may cause a prospective tenant to enter into a lease for
property owned by another Behringer Harvard sponsored program. In the event these conflicts arise, we cannot
assure our stockholders that our best interests will be met when officers and employees acting on behalf of our
advisor or property manager and on behalf of managers of other Behringer Harvard sponsored programs decide
whether to allocate any particular property to us or to another Behringer Harvard sponsored program or affiliate.
Our advisor will seek to reduce conflicts relating to the employment of developers, contractors or building
managers by making prospective employees aware of all such properties seeking to employ such persons. In
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addition, our advisor will seek to reduce conflicts that may arise with respect to properties available for sale or
rent by making prospective purchasers or tenants aware of all such properties. However, these conflicts cannot
be fully avoided in that there may be established differing compensation arrangements for employees at
different properties or differing terms for resales or leasing of the various properties. Furthermore, although our
sponsor generally seeks to reduce conflicts that may arise between its various programs by avoiding
simultaneous offerings of funds that have a substantially similar mix of fund characteristics, including targeted
investment types, investment objectives and criteria, and anticipated fund terms, there may be periods during
which one or more Behringer Harvard sponsored programs are seeking to invest in similar properties or are
otherwise potentially subject to a conflict of interest.

Affiliated Property Manager

Our properties are managed and leased by HPT Management Services LP, our affiliated property
manager. Our agreement with HPT Management Services LP has a seven-year term ending February 14, 2010,
and shall continue thereafter for successive seven-year renewal periods unless terminated by HPT Management
Services LP by written notice at least 30 days prior to the expiration date of such term. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, we can terminate the agreement only in the event of gross negligence or willful misconduct on the
part of HPT Management Services LP. HPT Management Services LP also serves as property manager for
properties owned by affiliated real estate programs, some of which may be in competition with our properties.
Management fees to be paid to our property manager are based on a percentage of the rental income received by
the managed properties.

Every transaction that we enter into with Behringer Advisors or its affiliates is subject to an inherent
conflict of interest, certain of these conflicts of interest are mentioned below or in the prospectus for the Current
Offering. Our board of directors may encounter conflicts of interest in enforcing our rights against any affiliate
in the event of a default by or disagreement with an affiliate or in invoking powers, rights or options pursuant to
any agreement between us and Behringer Advisors or any of its affiliates. A majority of the independent
directors who are otherwise disinterested in the transaction must approve each transaction between us and
Behringer Advisors or any of its affiliates as being fair and reasonable to us and on terms and conditions no less
favorable to us than those available from unaffiliated third parties.

Certain Conflict Resolution Procedures

In order to reduce or eliminate certain potential conflicts of interest, our charter contains a number of
restrictions relating to (1) transactions we enter into with Behringer Advisors and its affiliates, (2) certain future
offerings, and (3) allocation of investment opportunities among affiliated entities. These restrictions include,
among others, the following:

e We will not purchase or lease properties in which Behringer Advisors, any of our directors or any of
their respective affiliates has an interest without a determination by a majority of the directors,
including a majority of the independent directors, not otherwise interested in such transaction that
such transaction is fair and reasonable to us and at a price to us no greater than the cost of the
property to the seller or lessor unless there is substantial justification for any amount that exceeds
such cost and such excess amount is determined to be reasonable. In no event will we acquire any
such property at an amount in excess of its appraised value. We will not sell or lease properties to
Behringer Advisors, any of our directors or any of their respective affiliates unless a majority of the
directors, including a majority of the independent directors, not otherwise interested in the
transaction, determines the transaction is fair and reasonable to us.

e We will not make any loans to Behringer Advisors, any of our directors or any of their respective
affiliates, except that we may make or invest in mortgage loans involving Behringer Advisors, our
directors or their respective affiliates, provided that an appraisal of the underlying property is
obtained from an independent appraiser and the transaction is approved as fair and reasonable to us
and on terms no less favorable to us than those available from third parties. In addition, Behringer
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Advisors, any of our directors and any of their respective affiliates will not make loans to us or to
joint ventures in which we are a joint venture partner unless approved by a majority of the directors,
including a majority of the independent directors, not otherwise interested in the transaction as fair,
competitive and commercially reasonable, and no less favorable to us than comparable loans
between unaffiliated parties.

¢ Behringer Advisors and its affiliates shall be entitled to reimbursement, at cost, for actual expenses
incurred by them on behalf of us or joint ventures in which we are a joint venture partner, subject to
the limitation that for any year in which we qualify as a REIT, Behringer Advisors must reimburse
us for the amount, if any, by which our total operating expenses, including the advisor asset
management fee, paid during the previous fiscal year exceeds the greater of: (i) 2% of our average
invested assets for that fiscal year, or (ii) 25% of our net income, before any additions to reserves
for depreciation, bad debts or other similar non-cash reserves and before any gain from the sale of
our assets, for that fiscal year.

o In the event that an investment opportunity becomes available that is suitable, under all of the
factors considered by Behringer Advisors, for both us and one or more other public or private
entities affiliated with Behringer Advisors and its affiliates, and for which more than one of such
entities has sufficient uninvested funds, then the entity that has had the longest period of time elapse
since it was offered an investment opportunity will first be offered such investment opportunity. It
shall be the duty of our board of directors, including the independent directors, to insure that this
method is applied fairly to us. In determining whether or not an investment opportunity is suitable
for more than one program, Behringer Advisors, subject to approval by our board of directors, shall
examine, among others, the following factors:

- the anticipated cash flow of the property to be acquired and the cash requirements of each
program;

— the effect of the acquisition both on diversification of each program'’s investments by type of
property and geographic area and on diversification of the tenants of its properties;

— the policy of each program relating to leverage of properties;
— the income tax effects of the purchase to each program;
— the size of the investment; and

- the amount of funds available to each program and the length of time such funds have been
available for investment.

o If a subsequent development, such as a delay in the closing of a property or a delay in the
construction of a property, causes any such investment, in the opinion of our board of directors and
Behringer Advisors, to be more appropriate for a program other than the program that committed to
make the investment, Behringer Advisors may determine that another program affiliated with
Behringer Advisors or its affiliates will make the investment. Our board of directors has a duty to
ensure that the method used by Behringer Advisors for the allocation of the acquisition of properties
by two or more affiliated programs seeking to acquire similar types of properties is applied fairly to
us.

o We will not accept goods or services from Behringer Advisors or its affiliates or enter into any other
transaction with Behringer Advisors or its affiliates unless a majority of our directors, including a
majority of the independent directors, not otherwise interested in the transaction approve such
transaction as fair and reasonable to us and on terms and conditions not less favorable to us than
those available from unaffiliated third parties.

Our performance is subject to additional risks as have been listed in the “Risk Factors” section of our
Registration Statement on Form S-3, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, in connection with
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our sale of common stock in the Current Offering. Some of these risks are listed in the “Forward-Looking
Statements” section of this Annual Report.

Competition

Our properties are all located in areas that include highly competitive properties. The number of
competitive properties in a particular area could have a material adverse effect on both our ability to lease space
at any of our properties or at newly acquired (or developed) properties, and the amount of rent we can charge at
our properties. We compete with many property owners, such as corporations, limited partnerships, individual
owners, other real estate investment trusts, insurance companies and pension funds. We also compete with
properties owned by other Behringer Harvard programs. Many of our competitors have greater financial and
other resources than we have and may have substantially more operating experience than either us or Behringer
Advisors.

Employees

We have no direct employees. The employees of Behringer Advisors and other affiliates of ours
perform a full range of real estate services for us, including acquisitions, property management, accounting and
asset management. Employees of Behringer Securities, our affiliated dealer manager, perform wholesale
brokerage and investor relations services.

We are dependent on our affiliates for services that are essential to us, including the sale of shares of our
common stock, asset acquisition decisions, property management and other general administrative
responsibilities. In the event that these companies were unable to provide these services to us, we would be
required to obtain such services from other sources.

Available Information

We electronically file an annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports
on Form 8-K and all amendments to those reports with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). We
have also filed a registrant statement in connection with our Current Offering with the SEC. Copies of our
filings with the SEC may be obtained from our website at http://www.bhfunds.com or at the SEC’s website, at
http://www.sec.gov. Access to these filings is free of charge.

Item 2. Properties.
General

Our investments in real estate generally will take the form of holding fee title or a long-term leasehold
estate. We will acquire such interests either directly through Behringer OP I or indirectly through limited
liability companies or through investments in joint ventures, partnerships, co-tenancies or other co-ownership
arrangements with the developers of the properties, affiliates of Behringer Advisors or other persons. We are
not limited in the number or size of properties we may acquire or on the percentage of net proceeds of our public
offerings of common stock that we may invest in a single property. The number and mix of properties we
acquire will depend upon real estate and market conditions and other circumstances existing at the time we
acquire properties and the amount of proceeds raised our public offering.

Properties
As of December 31, 2004, we owned the following property:

Approx. Rentable
Property Name Location Square Footage Description

Cyprus Building Englewood, Colorado 153,048 4-story office building
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As of December 31, 2004, we owned tenant-in-common interests in the following properties:

Approx. Rentable

Tenant-in-Common

Property Name Location Square Footage Description Interest
Minnesota Center Bloomington, Minnesota 276,425  14-story office building 14.467600%
Enclave on the Lake Houston, Texas 171,090 6-story office building 36.312760%
St. Louis Place St. Louis, Missouri 337,088  20-story office building 35.709251%
Colorado Building Washington, D.C. 121,701 11-story office building 79.475200%
Travis Tower Houston, Texas 507,470  21-story office building 60.430229%
Pratt Building Baltimore, Maryland 368,194  24-story office building 50.679950%

Pursuant to the SEC’s rules, for each subsequent property acquisition for which we are required to file a
current report, we will file a current report on Form 8-K containing information regarding the property acquired,
the financial statements related thereto and other pertinent information related to such property.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

None.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders.

None.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer
Purchases of Equity Securities.

Market Information

There is no established trading market for our common stock. Therefore, there is a risk that a
stockholder may not be able to sell our stock at a time or price acceptable to the stockholder. Pursuant to the
Current Offering, we are selling shares of our common stock to the public at a price of $10.00 per share and at a
maximum price of $9.50 per share pursuant to our distribution reinvestment plan.

Unless and until our shares are listed on a national securities exchange or are included for quotation on
The Nasdag Stock Market, it is not expected that a public market for the shares will develop. To assist
fiduciaries of tax-qualified pension, stock bonus or profit-sharing plans, employee benefit plans and annuities
described in Section 403(a) or (b) of the Internal Revenue Code or an individual retirement account or annuity
described in Section 408 of the Internal Revenue Code subject to the annual reporting requirements of ERISA
and IRA trustees or custodians in preparation of reports relating to an investment in the shares, we intend to
provide reports of the quarterly and annual determinations of the current value of the net assets per outstanding
share to those fiduciaries who request such reports. Until three full fiscal years after the later of the completion
of the Current Offering and any subsequent offering of shares, we intend to use the offering price of shares in
the most recent offering as the per share net asset value. Beginning three full fiscal years after the completion of
the last offering of shares, the value of the properties and other assets will be based on valuations of either our
properties or us as a whole, whichever valuation method our board of directors determines to be appropriate.
Persons independent of us and independent of our advisor will perform such valuations.

Share Redemption Program

Our board of directors has authorized a common share redemption program for our investors. Our share
redemption program is described in detail in the prospectus, as supplemented, for the Current Offering. Under
the terms of the plan, during any calendar year, we will not redeem in excess of 5% of the weighted average
number of shares outstanding during the prior calendar year. In addition, our board of directors will determine
whether we have sufficient cash from operations to repurchase shares, and such purchases will generally be
limited to 1% of operating cash flow for the previous fiscal year plus proceeds of our distribution reinvestment
plan.

Our share redemption program is available only for stockholders who purchase their shares directly
from us or certain transferees, and is not intended to provide liquidity to any stockholder who acquired his
shares by purchase from another stockholder. Our share redemption program is only intended to provide interim
liquidity for our stockholders until a secondary market develops for the shares. No such market presently exists,
and there is no assurance that a market for our shares will ever develop. Neither our advisor, any member of our
board of directors nor any of their affiliates will receive any fee on the repurchase of shares by us pursuant to the
share redemption program.

The shares we purchase under the share redemption program will be cancelled, and will have the status
of authorized but unissued shares. We will not reissue such shares unless they are first registered with the
Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Act and under appropriate state securities laws or
otherwise issued in compliance with or exemption from such laws.

Our share redemption program in no way limits our ability to repurchase shares from stockholders by
any other legally available means for any reason that the advisor, in its discretion, deems to be in our best
interest.
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Holders

As of March 15, 2005, we had 17,112,143 shares of common stock outstanding held by a total of
approximately 4,848 stockholders.

Distributions

We are making an election to qualify as a REIT for federal income tax purposes commencing with our
taxable year ending December 31, 2004. As a REIT, we are required to distribute at least 90% of our annual
taxable income to our stockholders. We currently declare distributions on a daily basis and pay them on a
monthly basis and intend to continue doing so. This daily declaration process results in investors being eligible
to earn distributions immediately upon admittance as stockholders. Until proceeds from our offerings are
invested and generating operating cash flow sufficient to make distributions to stockholders, we intend to pay all
or a substantial portion of our distributions from the proceeds of such offerings or from borrowings in
anticipation of future cash flow. Of the amounts distributed by us in 2004, 91.3% represented a return of capital
and 8.7% were ordinary distributions. The following table shows the distributions declared and paid for the
fiscal years ended December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003:

Distributions Distributions

2004 Declared Paid
First Quarter $ 265,859 $ 194,807
Second Quarter 554,010 442,117
Third Quarter 1,089,066 888,658
Fourth Quarter 1,875,120 1,560,535

$ 3,784,055 $ 3,086,117

Distributions Distributions
2003 Declared Paid
First Quarter $ - $
Second Quarter - -
Third Quarter - -
Fourth Quarter 91,408 49 414
$ 91,408 $ 49,414

There were no distributions declared or paid during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002.
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

We issued 20,000 shares of our common stock to Behringer Holdings in conjunction with our inception
in 2002. These shares were not registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and were issued in
reliance on Rule 4(2) of the Securities Act.

Use of Proceeds from Registered Securities

As of December 31, 2004, we had sold the following securities pursuant to the Initial Offering (declared
effective February 19, 2003, SEC Registration No. 333-91532) for the following aggregate offering prices:

o 12,954,522 shares on a best efforts basis for $129,248,538; and
e 134,760 shares pursuant to our distribution reinvestment plan for $1,345,940.

The total of shares sold and gross offering proceeds realized pursuant to the Initial Offering as of
December 31, 2004 were 13,089,282 shares for $130,594,477. The above-stated number of shares sold and the
gross offering proceeds received from such sales does not include 20,000 shares of common stock purchased by
Behringer Holdings in a private placement in 2002, prior to the commencement of the Initial Offering.
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From the commencement of the Initial Offering through December 31, 2004, we incurred the following
expenses in connection with the issuance and distribution of the registered securities pursuant to the Initial
Offering:

Type of Expense ’ Amount
Other expenses to affiliates * $ 15,387,758
Other expenses to non-affiliates 14,386
Total expenses $ 15,402,144

*Other expenses to affiliates above include commissions and dealer manager fees paid to Behringer Securities,
our affiliate, which reallowed all or a portion of the commissions and fees to soliciting dealers.

From the commencement of the Initial Offering through December 31, 2004, the net offering proceeds
to us from the Initial Offering, after deducting the total expenses paid and accrued described above, were
$115,192,333.

From the commencement of the Initial Offering through December 31, 2004, we had used $73,663,759
of such net offering proceeds to purchase real estate, including tenant-in-common interests, net of the mortgages
payable. Of the amount used for the purchase of these investments, $5,323,226 was paid to Behringer Advisors,
our affiliate, as acquisition and advisory fees and acquisition expense reimbursement.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

The following table provides information regarding our equity compensation plans as of December 31,

2004:
Number of securities to | Weighted-average Number of securities
be issued upon exercise | exercise price of remaining available for
of outstanding options, | outstanding options, | future issuance under equity
Plan Category warrants and rights warrants and rights compensation plans
Equity
compensation plans
approved by
security holders 9,000 $12.00 11,991,000*
Equity
compensation plans
not approved by
security holders N/A N/A N/A
Total 9,000 $12.00 11,991,000*

* Includes 10,000,000 shares authorized for issuance pursuant to options not yet granted under our 2002
Employee Stock Option Plan, 991,000 shares authorized for issuance pursuant to options not yet granted under
our Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan, and 1,000,000 shares authorized under our Non-Employee
Director Warrant Plan.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

We were formed in June 2002, and did not commence operations until October 2003, when we accepted
the minimum amount of subscriptions pursuant to the Initial Offering and made our first real estate investment.
Accordingly, the following selected financial data for the year ended December 31, 2004 is not comparable to
the year ended December 31, 2003 or the period from inception (June 28, 2002) through December 31, 2002.
The following data should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and the notes
thereto and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”
appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The selected financial data presented below has been
derived from our consolidated financial statements.

From inception
(June 28, 2002)

Year ended Year ended through

December 31, 2004 December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002
Total assets $ 198,888,433 $ 11,684,541 $ 197,295
Long-term debt obligations $ 82,353,935 $ 4,332,656 $ -
QOther liabilities 6,613,140 280,514 -
Stockholders' equity 109,921,338 7,071,371 197,295
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 198,888,433 $ 11,684,541 3 197,295
Rental revenues (1) $ 129,981 $ - $ -
Property operating expense (1) 1,959 -
Interest (2) 1,689,994 60,833
Rate lock extension expense (3) 525,000 -
Real estate taxes (1) 19,967 -
Property management fees (4) 205,515 7,148
Asset management fees (4) 89,596 3,072
Organization expenses 217,897 17,575 -
General and administrative 711,603 222,648 3,805
Total expenses 3,461,531 311,276 3,806
Interest income 389,737 3,767 1,100
Equity in investments of tenant-in-common interests (5) 1,402,847 18,176 -
Net loss $ (1,538,966) $ (289,333) $ {2,705)
Loss per share $ {0.29) $ (2.03) $ {0.14)

(1) Rental revenues, property operating expense, and real estate taxes for the year ended December 31,2004 are from our 100%
direct ownership of the Cyprus Building, acquired on December 16, 2004.

{2) Interest includes our proportionate share of mortgage interest expense and deferred financing fees from our six
tenant-in-common-interest investments.

(3) Rate lock extension expense represents $525,000 of non-refundable fees related to interest rate lock deposits on future
borrowings for future acquisitions.

(4) Property and asset management fees includes our proportionate share of these fees from our six tenant-in-common interest
investments and our directly owned property.

(5) In 2004, we recorded $1,402,847 of equity in earnings from our undivided tenant-in-common interest investments.
QOur equity in earnings from these tenant-in-common interest investments is our proportionate share of the following
earnings from our tenant-in-common properties for the year ended December 31, 2004:
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Minnesota Enclave on St. Louis Colorado Travis Pratt

Center the Lake Place Building Tower - Building Total

Revenue $ 5,857,468 § 3049976 § 2696908 $1,649.088 $2.247.98%  $308817 816,812,347
Operating expenses;
Operating expenses 1,899.743 - 639,202 809,355 455,957 601,283 130,910 4,536,452
Property taxes 1,175,329 442,535 196,544 247,267 266,394 - 2,328,069
Total operating expenses 3,073,072 1,081,737 1,005,899 703,224 867,679 130,910 6,864 521
Operating income $ 3782396 5 1968239 § 1693010 § 945864 $1380,310 $178,007 § 9.947.826
Non-operating (income) expenses
Depreciation and amrtization 2,704,898 1,100,893 888,922 643,906 850.812 - 6,189,431
(Interest income)/bank fees, net (9,716) 26,977 (5,108) (14) (3,210) - 6,929
Total non-operating (income) expenses 2,695,182 1,127,870 883,814 643,892 845,602 - 6,196,360
Net income § 1087214 § 840363 § 809136 § 301972 § 534708 178007 § 3751466
Company's share of net income § 157234 § 305161 8 288958 § 239994 § 321226 § 90214 § 1402847
Company's share of depreciation

and amortization (1) § 433363 0§ 399765 0§ 339438 5 472923 § 479234 - 82124723
Weighted average shares outstanding 5,358 697

(1) Our share of depreciation and amortization includes above and below market lease amortization which is recorded as an adjustment to revenue.
Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the accompanying
consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Management'’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations are based upon
our consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. The preparation of these financial statements requires our
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues
and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. On a regular basis, we evaluate these
estimates, including investment impairment. These estimates are based on management'’s historical industry
experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

Investments in Tenant-in-Common Interests

As of December 31, 2004, the “Investments in tenant-in-common interests” on our balance sheet
consists of our undivided tenant-in-common interests in various office buildings. Consolidation of these
investments is not required as they do not qualify as variable interest entities as defined in FIN No. 46R and do
not meet the voting interest requirements required for consolidation under the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“"AICPA”) Statement of Position (“SOP 78-9”) “Accounting for Investments in Real Estate
Ventures.”

We account for these investments using the equity method of accounting in accordance with SOP 78-9.
The equity method of accounting requires these investments to be initially recorded at cost and subsequently
increased (decreased) for our share of net income (loss), including eliminations for our share of inter-company
transactions and reduced when distributions are received.
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Investment Impairinents

For real estate we own directly, we monitor events and changes in circumstances indicating that the
carrying amounts of the real estate assets may not be recoverable. When such events or changes in
circumstances are present, we assess potential impairment by comparing estimated future undiscounted
operating cash flows expected to be generated over the life of the asset and from its eventual disposition, to the
carrying amount of the asset. In the event that the carrying amount exceeds the estimated future undiscounted
operating cash flows, we recognize an impairment loss to adjust the carrying amount of the asset to estimated
fair value.

For real estate we own through an investment in a joint venture, tenant-in-common interest or other
similar investment structure, at each reporting date we will compare the estimated fair value of our investment to
the carrying value. An impairment charge is recorded to the extent the fair value of our investment is less than
the carrying amount and the decline in value is determined to be other than a temporary decline. No impairment
charges have been taken in 2003 or 2004.

Real Estate

Upon the acquisition of real estate properties, we allocate the purchase price of those properties to the
tangible assets acquired, consisting of land and buildings, and identified intangible assets based on their fair
values in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141, “Business Combinations.”
Identified intangible assets consist of the fair value of above-market and below-market leases, in-place leases,
in-place tenant improvements and tenant relationships.

The fair value of the tangible assets acquired, consisting of land and buildings, is determined by valuing
the property as if it were vacant, and the “as-if-vacant” value is then allocated to land and buildings. Land
values are derived from appraisals, and building values are calculated as replacement cost less depreciation or
management's estimates of the relative fair value of these assets using discounted cash flow analyses or similar
methods. The value of the building is depreciated over the estimated useful life of 25 years using the straight-
line method.

We determine the value of above-market and below-market in-place leases for acquired properties based
on the present value (using an interest rate that reflects the risks associated with the leases acquired) of the
difference between (i) the contractual amounts to be paid pursuant to the in-place leases and (ii) management’s
estimate of current market lease rates for the corresponding in-place leases, measured over a period equal to the
remaining non-cancelable terms of the respective leases. We record the fair value of above-market and below-
market leases as intangible assets or intangible liabilities, respectively, and amortize them as an adjustment to
rental income over the remaining non-cancelable terms of the respective leases.

The total value of identified real estate intangible assets acquired is further allocated to in-place lease
values, in-place tenant improvements, in-place leasing commissions and tenant relationships based on our
evaluation of the specific characteristics of each tenant's lease and our overall relationship with that respective
tenant. The aggregate value for tenant improvements and leasing commissions is based on estimates of these
costs incurred at inception of the acquired leases, amortized through the date of acquisition. The aggregate
value of in-place leases acquired and tenant relationships is determined by applying a fair value model. The
estimates of fair value of in-place leases includes an estimate of carrying costs during the expected lease-up
periods for the respective spaces considering current market conditions. In estimating the carrying costs that
would have otherwise been incurred had the leases not been in place, we include such items as real estate taxes,
insurance and other operating expenses as well as lost rental revenue during the expected lease-up period based
on current market conditions. The estimates of the fair value of tenant relationships also include costs to
execute similar leases including leasing commissions, legal and tenant improvements as well as an estimate of
the likelihood of renewal as determined by management on a tenant-by-tenant basis.

We amortize the value of in-place leases and in-place tenant improvements to expense over the initial
term of the respective leases. The value of tenant relationship intangibles are amortized to expense over the
initial term and any anticipated renewal periods, but in no event does the amortization period for intangible
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assets exceed the remaining depreciable life of the building. Should a tenant terminate its lease, the unamortized
portion of the in-place lease value and tenant relationship intangibles would be charged to expense.

Overview

We are organized to invest in commercial real estate properties (generally institutional quality office
buildings and other commercial properties) and lease each property to one or more tenants. In addition, we may
make or purchase mortgage loans secured by the types of properties we may acquire directly. We operate as a
real estate investment trust, or REIT, for federal and state income tax purposes.

In the year ended December 31, 2004, we purchased one real estate property and tenant-in-common
interests in five other properties. As of December 31, 2004, we owned, through direct ownership or tenant-in-
common interests, a portfolio of seven properties located in Minnesota, Missouri, Texas, Colorado, Maryland
and Washington, D.C.

In February 2005, we completed our initial offering of common stock with gross offering proceeds as of
December 31, 2004 of $130,594,477. On February 11, 2005, our second public offering was declared effective
for up to 80,000,000 shares of common stock at $10.00 per share and the issuance of up to 16.000,000 shares of
common stock at $9.50 per share which may be distributed pursuant to our distribution reinvestment program.

Results of Operations

At December 31, 2004, we had a 100% direct ownership of one property (the Cyprus Building) and
tenant-in-common interests in six additional properties. At December 31, 2003, we owned a tenant-in-common
interest in only one property. Accordingly, our results of operations for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2004, as compared to the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003, reflect significant increases in all categories.

Fiscal year ended December 31, 2004 as compared to fiscal year ended December 31, 2003

Revenue. Rental revenue for the year ended December 31, 2004 of $129,981 was from the Cyprus
Building, a 100% directly owned property, which we acquired on December 16, 2004. During the year ended
December 31, 2003, we did not have any rental revenue. Management expects increases in rental revenue in the
future as we purchase additional real estate properties. Under the accounting policies described above, rents
from properties in which we own a tenant-in-common interest are not recorded as revenue to us.

Operating Expense. Property operating expenses for the year ended December 31, 2004 were $1,959
and were comprised of operating expenses from the Cyprus Building, a 100% directly owned property, that we
acquired on December 16, 2004. During the year ended December 31, 2003, we did not have any property
operating expenses. Management expects increases in property operating expenses in the future as we purchase
additional real estate properties. Under the accounting policies described above, operating expenses of
properties in which we own a tenant-in-common interest are not recorded as operating expenses to us.

Interest Expense. Interest expense for the year ended December 31. 2004 was $1.689,994 and was
comprised of interest expense and amortization of deferred financing fees related to our mortgages associated
with all six of our tenant-in-common interest investments. During the year ended December 31, 2003, interest
expense was $60,833 and was comprised of interest expense and amortization of deferred financing fees related
to our mortgage associated with our tenant-in-common interest in the Minnesota Center. Management expects
increases in interest expense in the future as we purchase and invest in additional real estate properties.

Rate Lock Extension Expense. Rate lock extension expense for the year ended December 31, 2004 was
$525,000 and represented non-refundable fees related to interest rate lock deposits on future borrowings for
future acquisitions. There was no rate lock extension expense for the year ended December 31, 2003. We may
or may not enter into similar rate lock agreements with such fees in the future.

Property Management Fees. Property management fees for the year ended December 31, 2004 were
$205,515 and were comprised of property management fees associated with the Cyprus Building and all six of
our tenant-in-common interest investments. During the year ended December 31, 2003, property management
fees were $7,148 and were comprised of property management fees related to our tenant-in-common interest in
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the Minnesota Center. Management expects increases in property management fees in the future as we invest
in additional real estate properties.

Asset Management Fees. Asset management fees for the year ended December 31, 2004 were $89,596
and were comprised of asset management fees associated with the Cyprus Building and all six of our tenant-in-
common interest investments. During the year ended December 31, 2003, asset management fees were $3,072
and were comprised of asset management fees related to our tenant-in-common interest in the Minnesota Center.
Management expects increases in asset management fees in the future as we invest in additional real estate
properties.

Organization Expense. Organization expense for the year ended December 31, 2004 was $217,897 and
was comprised of reimbursements to our advisor in fiscal year 2004 related to organizational costs our advisor
paid on our behalf. This represents a portion of the 2.5% of gross offering proceeds paid to our advisor for
reimbursement of organization and offering expenses incurred in connection with the Initial Offering. During
the year ended December 31, 2003, organization expense was $17,575. As of December 31, 2004, all
organization expenses incurred by our advisor have been reimbursed by us. Therefore, management does not
expect for this expense to recur in the future.

General & Administrative Expense. General and administrative expense for the year ended December
31, 2004 was $711,603 and was comprised of corporate general and administrative expenses including directors’
and officers’ insurance premiums, transfer agent fees, auditing fees, legal fees and other administrative
expenses. During the year ended December 31, 2003, these expenses totaled $222,648. The lower amount in
2003 was due to less corporate activity in that fiscal year.

Interest Income. Interest income for the year ended December 31, 2004 was $389,737 and was
comprised of interest income associated with funds on deposits with banks. As we admit new stockholders,
subscription proceeds are released to us and may be utilized as consideration for investments in real properties
and the payment or reimbursement of dealer manager fees, selling commissions, organization and offering
expenses and operating expenses. Until required for such purposes, net offering proceeds are held in short-term,
liquid investments and earn interest income. During the year ended December 31, 2003, we earned $3,767 in
interest income, a significantly lower amount than in 2004 due to the lower cash balances on deposit with banks.

Equity in Earnings of Investments in Tenant-in-Common Interests. Equity in earnings of investments in
tenant-in-common interests for the year ended December 31, 2004 were $1,402,847 and were comprised of our
share of equity in the earnings of all six of our tenant-in-common interests. During the year ended December
31, 2003, we owned only one tenant-in-common interest in the Minnesota Center, resulting in equity in earnings
of investments in tenant-in-common interests of $18,176.

Fiscal year ended December 31, 2003 compared to the period of June 28, 2002 (date of inception) through
December 31, 2002

We commenced active operations when we received and accepted subscriptions for a minimum of
$2,500,000 pursuant to the Initial Offering on October 1, 2003 and made our first real estate acquisition on
October 15, 2003 with the purchase of an undivided 14.4676% tenant-in-common interest in the Minnesota
Center. As a result, our consolidated financial results for the year ended December 31, 2003 are not comparable
to results for the period from June 28, 2002 (date of inception) through December 31, 2002.

Results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2003 consisted primarily of the following:

Interest Expense. Interest expense of $60,833, including amortization of financing fees of $2,730,
related to our acquisition in October 2003 of a tenant-in-common interest investment in the Minnesota Center.

Property Management Fees. Property management fees of $7,148 consisted of property management
and leasing fees incurred in relation to our acquisition in October 2003 of a tenant-in-common interest
investment in the Minnesota Center.
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Asset Management Fees. Asset management fees of $3,072 consisted of asset management fees
incurred in relation to our acquisition in October 2003 of a tenant-in-common interest investment in the
Minnesota Center.

Organization Expense. Organization expense for the year ended December 31, 2003 was $17,575 and was
comprised of reimbursements to our advisor related to organizational costs it paid on our behalf. This represents
a portion of the 2.5% of gross offering proceeds paid to our advisor for reimbursement of organization and
offering expenses incurred in connection with the Initial Offering.

General & Administrative Expenses. General and administrative expense of $222,648 included a full
year of corporate overhead and administrative start-up expenses.

Interest Income. Interest income of $3,767 included a full year of interest income on funds on deposit.

Equity in Earnings of Investments in Tenant-in-Common Interests. Equity in earnings of investments in
tenant-in-common interests of $18,176 represented our interest in the operations of the Minnesota Center for 2.5
months.

Results in the period from June 28, 2002 (date of inception) through December 31, 2002 consisted of
general and administrative start-up expenses and interest income on funds held by us.

Cash Flow Analysis

At December 31, 2004, we owned one property and tenant-in-common interests in six properties. At
December 31, 2003, we owned a tenant-in-common interest in only one property. As a result, our cash flows for
the year ended December 31, 2004 are not comparable to the cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2003.

Cash flows used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2004 were $(148,147) and were
primarily comprised of the net loss of $(1,538,966) adjusted for equity in earnings of investments in tenant-in-
common interests of $(1,402,847) partially offset by distributions from our investment in tenant-in-common
interests of $1,586,299 and changes in working capital accounts of $1,154,986. During the year ended
December 31, 2003, cash flows used in operating activities were $(129,857). The lesser amount in 2003 is
primarily due to fewer real estate investments and less corporate activity in that fiscal year.

Cash flows used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2004 were $(157,864,996) and
were comprised of purchases of tenant-in-common interests in five properties totaling $(127,526,286), purchase
of the Cyprus Building for $(20,645,160) and deposits totaling $(9,693,550) made in connection with the
acquisition of a tenant-in-common interest in an office building located in Atlanta, Georgia that closed on
January 6, 2005, the acquisition of an office building in Denver, Colorado that closed on February 24, 2005 and
rate lock deposits on future borrowings for future acquisitions. During the year ended December 31, 2003, cash
flows from investing activities were $(6,441,466) and were comprised primarily of the purchase of a tenant-in-
common interest in the Minnesota Center.

Cash flows from financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2004 were $178,933,430 and
were comprised primarily of funds received from the issuance of stock, net of offering costs of $106,851,838
and proceeds from mortgage notes of $78,065,060. During the year ended December 31, 2003, cash flows from
financing activities were $11,521,889 and were comprised primarily of funds received from the issuance of
stock and proceeds from the mortgage note associated with our tenant-in-common interest in the Minnesota
Center.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our principal demands for funds will continue to be for property acquisitions, either directly or through
investment interests, for mortgage loan investments, for the payment of operating expenses and distributions,
and for the payment of interest on our outstanding indebtedness. Generally, cash needs for items other than
property acquisitions and mortgage loan investments are expected to be met from operations, and cash needs for
property acquisitions are expected to be met from the net proceeds of the Current Offering and other offerings of
our securities. However, there may be a delay between the sale of our shares and our purchase of properties or
mortgage loan investments and receipt of income from such purchase, which could result in a delay in the
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benefits to our stockholders of returns generated from our operations. We expect that at least 87.1% of the
money that stockholders invest in the Current Offering will be used to buy real estate, make or invest in
mortgage loans or make other investments and approximately 3.5% of the gross proceeds of the Current
Offering will be used for payment of fees and expenses related to the selection and acquisition of the
investments and for initial working capital reserves for such properties. The remaining 9.4% will be used to pay
acquisition and advisory fees and acquisition expenses. Our advisor evaluates potential property acquisitions
and mortgage loan investments and engages in negotiations with sellers and borrowers on our behalf. After a
contract for the purchase of a property is executed, the property will not be purchased until the substantial
completion of due diligence. During this period, we may decide to temporarily invest any unused proceeds from
the Current Offering in investments that could yield lower returns than the properties. These lower returns may
affect our ability to make distributions.

The amount of distributions to be distributed to our stockholders will be determined by our board of
directors and is dependent on a number of factors, including funds available for payment of distributions,
financial condition, capital expenditure requirements and annual distribution requirements needed to maintain
our status as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code. Until proceeds from our offerings are invested and
generating operating cash flow sufficient to make distributions to stockholders, we intend to pay all or a
substantial portion of our distributions from the proceeds of such offerings or from borrowings in anticipation of
future cash flow. Of the amounts distributed by us in 2004, 91.3% represented a return of capital and 8.7% were
ordinary distributions.

We used borrowings of $4,340,280 (the “Minnesota Center Loan”) under a non-recourse loan
agreement with Greenwich Capital Financial Products, Inc (the “Minnesota Center Loan Agreement”) to pay a
portion of our 14.4676% tenant-in-common interest in the Minnesota Center. The remaining tenant-in-common
interests in the Minnesota Center were acquired by various investors who purchased their interests in a private
offering sponsored by our affiliate, Behringer Holdings. Each tenant-in-common investor, including us, is a
borrower under the Minnesota Center Loan Agreement. The original total borrowings of all tenant-in-common
interest holders under the Minnesota Center Loan Agreement were $30,000,000. The Minnesota Center Loan
accrues interest at 6.181%, and requires principal and interest payments monthly based on a 30-year
amortization period, with any unamortized principal due at maturity on November 1, 2010. The Minnesota
Center Loan Agreement requires a minimum debt coverage ratio of not less than 1.10 and permits no
prepayment until the earlier of (i) 42 months following inception of the Minnesota Center Loan or (ii) two years
after securitization (“Minnesota Center Lockout Period”). Certain obligations under the Minnesota Center Loan
are guaranteed by Robert M. Behringer and Behringer Holdings. The Minnesota Center Loan may only be
prepaid after the Minnesota Center Lockout Period. As of December 31, 2004, our outstanding principal
balance under the Minnesota Center Loan was $4,288,896.

We used borrowings of $7,262,552 (the “Enclave Loan”) under a loan agreement (the “Enclave Loan
Agreement”) with State Farm Life Insurance Company to pay a portion of the purchase price for our undivided
36.31276% tenant-in-common interest in Enclave on the Lake. The remaining tenant-in-common interests in
Enclave on the Lake were acquired by various investors who purchased their interests in a private offering
sponsored by our affiliate, Behringer Holdings. Each tenant-in-common investor, including us, is a borrower
under the Enclave Loan Agreement. The original total borrowings of all tenant-in-common interest holders
under the Enclave Loan Agreement were $20,000,000. The interest rate under the Enclave Loan is fixed at
5.45% per annum and requires principal and interest payments monthly based on a 30-year amortization period,
with any unamortized principal due at maturity. Certain obligations under the Enclave Loan are guaranteed by
Robert M. Behringer and Behringer Holdings. The Enclave Loan Agreement allows for prepayment of the
entire outstanding principal after 42 months from the date of the Enclave Loan Agreement subject to the
payment of a prepayment penalty. No prepayment penalty is due after 81 months from the date of the Enclave
Loan Agreement. The Enclave Loan has a seven-year term. As of December 31, 2004, our outstanding
principal balance under the Enclave Loan was $7,208,922.

We used borrowings of $7,141,850 (the “St. Louis Place Loan”) under a loan agreement (the “St. Louis
Place Loan Agreement”) with Greenwich Capital Financial Products, Inc. to pay a portion of our undivided
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35.709251% tenant-in-common interest in St. Louis Place. The remaining tenant-in-common interests in St.
Louis Place were acquired by various investors who purchased their interests in a private offering sponsored by
our affiliate, Behringer Holdings. Each tenant-in-common investor, including us, is a borrower under the St.
Louis Place Loan Agreement. The original total borrowings of all tenant-in-common interest holders under the
St. Louis Place Loan Agreement were $20,000,000. The interest rate under the St. Louis Place Loan is fixed at
6.078% per annum and requires principal and interest payments monthly based on a 30-year amortization
period, with any unamortized principal due at maturity. Certain obligations under the St. Louis Place Loan are
guaranteed by Robert M. Behringer and Behringer Holdings. The St. Louis Place Loan Agreement requires a
minimum debt coverage ratio of not less than 1.10 and prohibits prepayment until the earlier of (i) 42 months or
(ii) two years after securitization, after which and prior to month 81, it may be defeased. The St. Louis Place
Loan Agreement has a seven-year term. As of December 31, 2004, our outstanding principal balance under the
St. Louis Place Loan was $7,110,134.

We used borrowings of $19,868,791 (the “Colorado Property Loan”) under a loan agreement (the
“Colorado Property Loan Agreement”) with Greenwich Capital Financial Products, Inc. to pay a portion of our
undivided 79.4752% tenant-in-common interest in the Colorado Building. Additional borrowings of $2,384,255
have been made by us under this loan for tenant improvements. The remaining tenant-in-common interests in
the Colorado Building were acquired by various investors who purchased their interests in a private offering
sponsored by our affiliate, Behringer Holdings. Each tenant-in-common investor, including us, is a borrower
under the Colorado Property Loan Agreement. The original total borrowings of all tenant-in-common interest
holders under the Colorado Property Loan Agreement were $25,000,000. Total additional borrowings of
$3,000,000 were available under this loan agreement for tenant improvements and all $3,000,000 had been
borrowed as of December 31, 2004. The interest rate under the Colorado Property Loan is fixed at 6.075% per
annum. The Colorado Property Loan Agreement requires monthly payments of interest based on a 30-year
amortization period, with monthly payments of principal and interest required beginning October 2009 and any
unamortized principal due at maturity. Certain obligations under the Colorado Property Loan are guaranteed by
Robert M. Behringer and Behringer Holdings. The Colorado Property Loan Agreement requires a minimum
debt coverage ratio of not less than 1.10 and allows for prepayment of the entire outstanding principal with no
prepayment fee from and after the third payment prior to maturity, with at least 15 days prior notice. The
Colorado Property Loan Agreement has a ten-year term. As of December 31, 2004, our outstanding principal
balance under the Colorado Property Loan was $22,253,046.

We used borrowings of $22,812,411 (the “Travis Tower Loan”) under a loan agreement (the “Travis
Tower Loan Agreement”) with Bear Stearns Commercial Mortgage, Inc. to pay a portion of our undivided
60.430229% tenant-in-common interest in the Travis Tower. The remaining tenant-in-common interests in the
Travis Tower were acquired by various investors who purchased their interests in a private offering sponsored
by our affiliate, Behringer Holdings. Each tenant-in-common investor, including us, is a party to the Travis
Tower Loan Agreement. The total borrowings of all tenant-in-common interest holders under the Travis Tower
Loan Agreement were $37,750,000. The interest rate under the Travis Tower Loan Agreement is fixed at
5.434% per annum. Certain obligations under the Travis Tower Loan are guaranteed by Robert M. Behringer
and Behringer Holdings. The Travis Tower Loan Agreement requires a minimum debt coverage ratio of not less
than 1.65 and allows for prepayment of the entire outstanding principal with no prepayment fee during the last
three months prior to maturity. The Travis Tower Loan Agreement has a ten-year term. As of December 31,
2004, our outstanding principal balance under the Travis Tower Loan was $22,741,375.

We used borrowings of $18,751,582 (the “Pratt Loan”) under a loan agreement (the “Pratt Loan
Agreement”) with Citigroup Global Markets Realty Corporation to pay a portion of our undivided 50.67995%
tenant-in-common interest in the Pratt Building. The remaining tenant-in-common interests in the Pratt
Building were acquired by various investors who purchased their interests in a private offering sponsored by our
affiliate, Behringer Holdings. Each tenant-in-common investor, including us, is a party to the Pratt Loan
Agreement. The total borrowings of all tenant-in-common interest holders under the Pratt Loan Agreement
were $37,000,000. The interest rate under the Pratt Loan Agreement is fixed at 5.285% per annum. Certain
obligations under the Pratt Loan are guaranteed by Robert M. Behringer and Behringer Holdings. The Pratt
Loan Agreement requires a minimum debt coverage ratio of not less than 1.10 and allows for prepayment of the
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entire outstanding principal with no prepayment fee during the last three months prior to maturity. The Pratt
Loan Agreement has a ten-year term. As of December 31, 2004, our outstanding principal balance under the
Pratt Loan was $18,751,582.

On December 30, 2004, we entered into a Revolving Credit Agreement with Bank of America, N.A. for
up to $12,000,000 of available borrowings (“the “Revolver”). The Revolver has a two-year term with the option
to extend for one additional year. The Cyprus Building, which we acquired on December 16, 2004, is subject to
a deed of trust to secure payment of the revolver. We can borrow, repay and reborrow again up to the available
borrowing limit. As of December 31, 2004, we had no outstanding borrowings under the Revolver.

We expect to meet our future short-term operating liquidity requirements through net cash provided by
our current property operations and the operations of properties to be acquired in the future. Management also
expects that our properties will generate sufficient cash flow to cover operating expenses plus pay a monthly
distribution. Currently, a portion of the distributions are paid from cash provided by operations and a portion is
paid from sales of securities. Of the distributions declared in 2004, 91.3% represented a return of capital and
8.7% was ordinary distributions. Operating cash flows are expected to increase as additional properties are
added to the portfolio. Other potential future sources of capital include proceeds from secured or unsecured
financings from banks or other lenders, proceeds from the sale of properties and undistributed funds from
operations. If necessary, we may use financings or other sources of capital in the event of unforeseen significant
capital expenditures.

Funds from Operations

Funds from operations (“FFO”) is a non-GAAP financial measure that is widely recognized as a
measure of REIT operating performance. Funds from operations is defined by the National Association of Real
Estate Investment Trusts as net income, computed in accordance with GAAP excluding extraordinary items, as
defined by GAAP, and gains (or losses) from sales of property, plus depreciation and amortization on real estate
assets, and after adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships, joint ventures and subsidiaries. We believe that
funds from operations is helpful to investors and our management as a measure of operating performance
because it excludes depreciation and amortization, gains and losses from property dispositions, and
extraordinary items, and as a result, when compared year to year, reflects the impact on operations from trends
in occupancy rates, rental rates, operating costs, development activities, general and administrative expenses,
and interest costs, which is not immediately apparent from net income. Historical cost accounting for real estate
assets in accordance with GAAP implicitly assumes that the value of real estate diminishes predictability over
time. Since real estate values have historically risen or fallen with market conditions, many industry investors
and analysts have considered the presentation of operating results for real estate companies that use historical
cost accounting alone to be insufficient. As a result, our management believes that the use of FFO, together
with the required GAAP presentations, provide a more complete understanding of our performance and a more
informed and appropriate basis on which to make decisions involving operating, financing and investing
activities. Factors that impact FFO include start-up costs, fixed costs, delay in buying assets as offering
proceeds become available, income from portfolio properties and other portfolio assets, interest rates on
acquisition financing and operating expenses. FFO should not be considered as an alternative to net income, as
an indication of our liquidity, nor is it indicative of funds available to fund our cash needs, including our ability
to make distributions. Our calculation of FFO for the year ended December 31, 2004 is presented below:
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Year ended
December 31, 2004

Net loss $ (1,538,966)
Preferred stock dividends -

Net loss allocable to common stock (1,538,966)
Real estate depreciation (1) 1,097,355
Real estate amortization (1) 1,027,368

Gain (loss) on sale of properties -
Impairment of long-lived assets -
Extraordinary loss -

Funds from operations (FFO) 3 585,757

Distributions paid $ 3,086,117
Distributions declared 3,784,055

&

(1) This represents our proportionate share of the depreciation and amortization expense of the properties in
which we own tenant-in-common interests. These expenses are reflected in our equity in earnings from these
tenant-in-common investments for the year ended December 31, 2004.

During 2004, although we made substantial progress in the growth of FFO, our FFO was impacted by
start-up costs, fixed costs being a substantial amount in relation to our income, and dilution caused by normal
delay in applying the net proceeds of our Initial Offering to the acquisition of assets. In addition, we incurred a
one-time charge of $525,000 related to the securing of an interest rate lock for future long-term borrowings.
Although this charge impacted FFO in 2004, the rate locked funds are expected to enhance FFO over a 10-year
period through the provision of long-term financing at favorable rates to us for future property acquisitions. We
believe FFO during our ongoing offering of common stock will be positively affected if we are able to promptly
apply the net proceeds of such raise to property acquisitions. Conversely, we expect that FFO during our
ongoing offering of common stock may suffer to the extent that we are not promptly able to identify and acquire
assets that satisfy our investment parameters.

During 2004, we declared and paid distributions in excess of FFO and expect to continue to do so in the
near-term during 2005. However, over the long-term we expect that we will make distributions out of FFO
(except to the extent of distributions from the sale of our assets). However, given the uncertainty arising from
numerous factors, including both the raising and placing of capital in the current real estate environment,
ultimate FFO performance cannot be predicted with certainty. For example, if we are not able to timely invest
net proceeds of cur offering at favorable yields, future distributions declared and paid may exceed FFO and may
result in a significant portion of distributions continuing to represent a return of capital rather than distributions
from the results of real estate operations.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

On January 28, 2004, we entered into an agreement with Behringer Holdings (the “Accommodation
Agreement”) whereby we would provide loan guarantees to Behringer Holdings, so that Behringer Holdings
may use such loan guarantees to secure short-term loans from lenders to fund acquisition and syndication costs
related to acquiring real estate projects for tenant-in-common syndication. Each guaranty will be for a period
not to exceed six months and shall be limited to no more than $1,000,000. Behringer Holdings must pay us a
1% fee of any loan we guarantee for each six-month period. During February 2004, we placed $2,500,000 in
restricted money market accounts with lenders as security for funds advanced to Behringer Holdings.
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On August 9, 2004, the Accommodation Agreement was amended and restated to include (1) options to
extend the six month guaranty period for one or more additional six-month periods, with an additional 1% fee
payable on the date of each extension; and (2) the option for our guarantees to include the guarantee of bridge
loans. A bridge loan, as defined in the Amended and Restated Accommodation Agreement, is any loan pursuant
to which Behringer Holdings acquires an interest in respect of a project, which interest is intended to be sold in a
tenant-in-common offering. Each bridge guaranty is limited to no more than the obligations under the bridge
loan. The term and fees associated with the bridge guarantees are the same as those of the other guarantees
allowed under this agreement. We or our affiliates have the right, but not an obligation, to purchase at least a
5% interest in each project with respect to which we make a guaranty. Our purchase price for each 1% interest
in a project will equal the price paid by Behringer Holdings, plus a pro rata share of the closing costs. As of
December 31, 2004, we had no loan guarantees outstanding on borrowings by Behringer Holdings.

We have no other off-balance sheet arrangements that are reasonably likely to have a current or future
material effect on our financial condition, changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of
operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources.

Contractual Obligations
The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2004:

Principal Payments due by period

Less than 1-3 3-5 More than
Total 1 year years years 5 years
Mortgage notes payable
Minnesota Center $ 4,288,896 § 51,035 % 112,158 % 126,305 $ 3,999,398
Enclave on the Lake 7,208,922 101,916 221,236 246,654 6,639,116
St. Louis Place 7,110,134 82,295 180,572 202,908 6,644,359
Colorado Property 22,253,046 - - 62,072 22,190,974
Travis Tower 22,741,375 297,600 646,600 718,104 21,079,071
Pratt Building 18,751,582 - 229,201 534,064 17,988,317
$ 82,353,955 ¢ 532,846 3 1,389,767 $ 1,890,107 $ 78,541,235
Interest Payments due by period
Less than 1-3 3-5 More than
Total 1 vear years years 5 years
Mortgage notes payable
Minnesota Center $ 1,530,636 $ 267,317 $ 524,547 $ 510,401 § 228,371
Enclave on the Lake 2,392,858 390,185 762,966 737,549 502,158
St. Louis Place 2,763,968 435,838 855,695 833,359 639,076
Colorado Property 13,135,201 1,370,649 2,741,297 2,744,735 6,278,520
Travis Tower 11,317,070 1,245,400 2,439,399 2,367,895 5,264,376
Pratt Building 9,571,613 988,268 2,004,414 1,960,827 4,618,104
$ 40,711,346 3 4,697,657 § 9,328,318 $ 9,154,766 $ 17,530,605

New Accounting Pronouncements

FASB No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment,” a revision to FASB No. 123 “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation” was issued in December 2004. The Statement supersedes APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting
for Stock Issued to Employees™ and its related implementation guidance. This statement focuses primarily on
accounting for transactions in which an entity obtains employee services in share-based payment transactions
and requires the measurement and recognition of the cost of the employee services received in exchange for an
award of equity instruments for goods or services. The Statement, which is effective as of the beginning of the
first interim or annual reporting period that begins after June 15, 2005, is not expected to have a material effect
on our financial condition, results of operations, or liquidity.
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Inflation

The real estate market has not been affected significantly by inflation in the past several years due to the
relatively low inflation rate. The majority of our leases contain inflation protection provisions applicable to
reimbursement billings for common area maintenance charges, real estate tax and insurance reimbursements on
a per square foot basis, or in some cases, annual reimbursement of operating expenses above a certain per square
foot allowance.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

We are exposed to interest rate changes primarily as a result of long-term debt used to acquire
properties. Our interest rate risk management objectives will be to limit the impact of interest rate changes on
earnings and cash flows and to lower overall borrowing costs. To achieve these objectives, we borrow primarily
at fixed rates or variable rates with the lowest margins available and in some cases, the ability to convert
variable rates to fixed rates. With regard to variable rate financing, we will assess interest rate cash flow risk by
continually identifying and monitoring changes in interest rate exposures that may adversely impact expected
future cash flows and by evaluating hedging opportunities.

We do not have any foreign operations and thus we are not exposed to foreign currency fluctuations.
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

The information required by this Item 8 is hereby incorporated by reference to our Consolidated
Financial Statements beginning on page F-1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

Within the 90-day period prior to the filing of this report, our management evaluated, with the
participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, the effectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures as of December 31, 2004. Based on that evaluation, our principal executive officer and
principal financial officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the
end of the period covered by this report. To these officers’ knowledge, there were no significant changes in our
internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect these controls subsequent to the date of their
evaluation.

Item 9B. Other Information.

None.
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PART III
Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant.

The information required by this Item will be presented in our definitive proxy statement for the annual
meeting of stockholders to be held on May 31, 2005, which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on or about May 2, 2005, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

The information required by this Item will be presented in our definitive proxy statement for the annual
meeting of stockholders to be held on May 31, 2005, which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on or about May 2, 2005, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related
Stockholder Matters.

The information required by this Item will be presented in our definitive proxy statement for the annual
meeting of stockholders to be held on May 31, 2005, which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on or about May 2, 2005, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions.

The information required by this Item will be presented in our definitive proxy statement for the annual
meeting of stockholders to be held on May 31, 2005, which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on or about May 2, 2005, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

The information required by this Item will be presented in our definitive proxy statement for the annual
meeting of stockholders to be held on May 31, 2005, which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on or about May 2, 2005, and is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.
(a) List of Documents Filed.
1. Financial Statements

The list of the financial statements filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K is set forth
on page F-1 herein.

2. Financial Statement Schedules
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Schedule III Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation

3. Exhibits

The list of exhibits filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K is submitted in the Exhibit
Index following the financial statements in response to Item 601 of Regulation S-K.

Exhibits.

The exhibits filed in response to Item 601 of Regulation S-K are listed on the Exhibit Index attached
hereto.

Financial Statement Schedules.

We are required to file the following separate audited financial statements of our unconsolidated
subsidiary which is filed as part of this report:

The Colorado Building

All financial statement schedules, except for Schedule III (see (a) 2. above), have been omitted because
the required information of such schedules is not present, is not present in amounts sufficient to require
a schedule or is included in the financial statements.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Behringer Harvard REIT 1, Inc.

Dated: March 31, 2005 By:  /s/ Robert M. Behringer
Robert M. Behringer
President, Chief Investment Officer, Chief Executive
Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below
by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

March 31, 2005 /s/ Robert M. Behringer
Robert M. Behringer
President, Chief Investment Officer, Chief Executive
Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors
(Principal Executive Officer)

March 31, 2005 /s/ Robert S. Aisner
Robert S. Aisner
Chief Operating Officer and Director

Marr' 31, 2005 /s/ Gary S. Bresky
Gary S. Bresky
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
(Principal Financial Officer)

March 31, 2005 /s/ Kimberly Arianpour
Kimberly Arianpour
Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer)

March 31, 2005 /s/ Charles G. Dannis
Charles G. Dannis
Director

March 31, 2005 /s/ Steven W. Partridge
Steven W. Partridge
Director

March 31, 2005 /s/ G. Ronald Witten
G. Ronald Witten
Director
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Behringer Harvard REIT I, Inc.:

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the accompanying index present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of Behringer Harvard REIT I, Inc. and its subsidiaries at December 31,
2004 and 2003, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2004
and 2003 and for the period from June 28, 2002 (date of inception) through December 31, 2002 in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. These financial statements are
the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with the standards
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Dallas, Texas
March 31, 2005
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Behringer Harvard REIT I, Inc.

Consolidated Balance Sheets

Assets
Real estate
Land
Buildings
Acquired in-place lease intangibles
Total real estate

Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Escrow deposits
Investments in tenant-in-common interests
Deferred financing fees, net of accumulated amortization of
$55,111 and $2,730, respectively
Receivables from affiliates
Total assets

Liabilities and stockholders' equity

Liabilities
Mortgages payable
Accounts payable
Payables to affiliates
Acquired below market leases
Dividends payable
Accrued liabilities
Subscriptions for common stock
Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies

Stockholders' equity
Preferred stock, $.0001 par value per share;
50,000,000 shares authorized, none outstanding
Common stock, $.0001 par value per share;
350,000,000 shares authorized, 13,109,282 and
843,878 shares issued and outstanding at December 31,
2004 and December 31, 2003, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Cumulative distributions and net loss
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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December 31,

December 31,

2004 2003
$ 2,056,361 $
15,500,115
4,431,302 -
21,987,778
26,067,143 5,146,856
5,446,643 10,492
155,473 77,837
9,693,550 -
133,702,656 6,359,823
1,634,443 89,633
200,747 -
$ 198,888,433 $ 11,684,541
$ 82,353,955 $ 4,332,656
881,296 18,068
- 76,608
1,236,682 -
739,932 41,994
809,196 133,867
2,946,034 9,977
88,967,095 4,613,170
1,311 84
115,626,494 7,454,733
(5,706,467) (383,446)
109,921,338 7,071,371
$ 198,888,433 $ 11,684,541




Revenues
Rental revenue
Total revenues

Expenses
Property operating expense
Interest
Rate lock extension expense
Real estate taxes
Property management fees
Asset management fees
Organization expenses
General and administrative
Total expenses

Operating loss

Other income
Interest income

Equity in earnings of investments
in tenant-in-common interests

Total other income
Net loss

Basic and diluted weighted
average shares outstanding

Basic and diluted loss per share

Behringer Harvard REIT I, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations

From inception

Year Year {(June 28, 2002)
ended _ ended through
December 31, 2004 December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002
$ 129,981 $ - $
129,981 -
1,958 -
1,689,994 60,833
525,000 -
19,967 - -
206,515 7,148
89,596 3,072
217,897 17,575 -
711,603 222,648 3,805
3,461,531 311,276 3,805
(3,331,550) (311,276) (3,805)
389,737 3,767 1,100
1,402,847 18,176 -
1,792,584 21,943 1,100
$ (1,538,966) $ (289,333) $ (2,705)
5,358,697 142,430 20,000
$ (0.29) $ (2.03) $ (0.14)

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Balance at June 28, 2002 (date of inception)

Common stock issued to -
Behringer Harvard Holdings, LLC

Net loss
Balance at December 31, 2002
Issuance of common stock, net

Distributions declared on common stock
(30.18 per share)

Shares issued pursuant to Distribution
Reinvestment Plan

Net loss
Balance at December 31, 2003
[ssuance of common stock, net

Distributions declared on common stock
($0.70 per share)

Shares issued pursuant to Distribution
Reinvestment Plan

Net loss

Balance at December 31, 2004

Behringer Harvard REIT [, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity

Cumulative
Peferred Stock Common Stock Additional Distributions Total
Number Par Number Par Paid-in and Stockholders'
of Shares Value of Shares Value Capital Net Loss Equity
§ - - § - $ - $ § -
20,000 2 199,998 200,000
(2,705) {2,705)
20,000 2 199,998 {2.705) 197,295
821,399 82 7,229,945 7.230,027
(91,408) (91,408)
2.479 24,790 24,790
(289,333) (289,333)
843,878 84 7,454,733 (383,446) 7,071,371
12,133,123 1214 106,850,624 106,851,838
{3.784,055) (3,784,055)
132,281 13 1,321,137 1,321,150
(1,538,966) {1,538,966)
§ - 13109282 § 1311 § 115626494 § (5706,467) § 109,921,338

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Behringer Harvard REIT I, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

From inception
(June 28, 2002)
Year ended Year ended through
December 31, 2004 December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002

Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss § (1538,966) % (289,333) {2.705)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash

flows used in operating activities
Amortization of deferred financing fees 52,381 2,730
Equity in earnings of investments in

tenant-in-common inerests (1,402.847) (18,176)
Distributions from investments 1,586.299 99,819 -
Change in prepaid expenses and other assets 122,363 (76,832) (1,005)
Change in accounts payable 863.228 18,068 -
Change in accrued liabilities 369,395 133,867
Change in receivables or payables to affiliates (200,000) - -
Cash used in operating activities (148,147) (129,857) (3,710)
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of tenant-in-common interests {127,526,286) (6,441,466)
Purchase of property (20,645,160) -
Escrow deposits on properties to be acquired (9.693,550) -
Cash used in investing activities (157.864,996) (6,441,466)
Cash flows from financing activities
Financing costs (1,597.291) (92.263)
Proceeds from mortgage notes 78,065,060 4,340,280
Payments on mortgage notes (43,761) (7,624)
Issuance of common stock 121,053,024 8,195,512
Offering costs (14,201,186) (965,485)
Distributions (1.764,967) (24,624)
Change in subscriptions for common stock 2,936,067 8,977
Change in restricted cash (5.436,151) (10,492)
Change in receivables or payables to affiliates (77,355) 76,608
Cash fiows from financing activities 178,933,430 11,521,889
Net change in cash and cash equivalents 20,920,287 4,950,566 {3,710)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 5,146,856 196,280 200,000
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period § 26,067,143 § 5,146,856 196,290
Supplemental disclosure:
Interest paid $ 2,162,612 $ 58,103
Non-cash financing activities:
Common stack issued ir distribution reinvestment plan $ 1,321,150 $ 24,790
Distributions payable in common stock under distribution

reinvestment plan $ 335,760 $ 22,403
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Behringer Harvard REIT I, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Business and Organization
Business

Behringer Harvard REIT I, Inc. is a Maryland corporation formed in June 2002, which is making an
election to qualify as a real estate investment trust (“REIT”) for the tax year ended December 31, 2004. We
were organized to invest in commercial real estate properties (generally institutional quality office buildings and
other commercial properties) and lease each such property to one or more tenants. We are currently offering our
common stock pursuant to a public offering that commenced on February 19, 2005 (the “Current Offering”) and
is described below.

We commenced our initial public offering of shares of our common stock (the “Initial Offering”) on
February 19, 2003 and commenced operations in October 2003 upon our acceptance of initial subscriptions for
280,423 shares of common stock, which satisfied the minimum offering requirement of $2,500,000 established
for the Initial Offering. Prior to October 2003, we were considered a development stage entity.

Substantially all of our business is conducted through Behringer Harvard Operating Partnership I LP, a
Texas limited partnership organized in 2002 (“Behringer OP I"). We own a 0.1% interest in Behringer OP I as
its general partner. The remaining 99.9% of Behringer OP I is held as a limited partner’s interest by BHR
Partners, LLC (“BHR Partners”), a Delaware limited liability company which is our wholly-owned subsidiary.

Our advisor is Behringer Advisors LP (“Behringer Advisors”), a Texas limited partnership formed in
2002. Behringer Advisors is our affiliate responsible for managing our affairs on a day-to-day basis and for
identifying and making acquisitions and investments on our behalf.

Organization

On February 19, 2003, we commenced our Initial Offering of up to 80,000,000 shares of common stock
offered at a price of $10.00 per share pursuant to a Registration Statement on Form S-11 filed under the
Securities Act of 1933. The Registration Statement also covered up to 8,000,000 shares available pursuant to
our distribution reinvestment plan and up to 3,520,000 shares issuable to broker-dealers pursuant to warrants
whereby participating broker-dealers would have the right to purchase one share for every 25 shares they sell
pursuant to the Initial Offering. The Initial Offering ended on February 19, 2005.

On October 25, 2004, we filed a Registration Statement on Form S-3 under the Securities Act of 1933 in
respect to the Current Offering. The Registration Statement was declared effective by the Securities and
Exchange Commission on February 11, 2005 and extends until February 11, 2007, unless earlier terminated or
fully subscribed.

The Registration Statement relating to the Current Offering covers 80,000,000 shares of our common
stock plus an additional 16,000,000 shares of common stock available pursuant to our distribution reinvestment
plan.

As of December 31, 2004, we had accepted subscriptions for 13,109,282 shares of our common stock,
including 20,000 shares owned by Behringer Harvard Holdings, LLC (“Behringer Holdings"). As of December
31, 2004, we had no shares of preferred stock issued and outstanding. On May 27, 2004, the independent
members of the Board of Directors were granted options to purchase a total of 9,000 shares of our common
stock at an exercise price of $12.00 per share under our Non-Employee Director Option Plan. These options
vest on May 27, 2005 and expire on May 27, 2009. As of December 31, 2004, all 9,000 stock options were
outstanding and none had been exercised.

We admit new stockholders pursuant to the Current Offering at least monthly. All subscription
proceeds are held in a separate account until the subscribing investors are admitted as stockholders. Upon
admission of new stockholders, subscription proceeds are released to us and may be utilized as consideration for
investments and the payment or reimbursement of dealer manager fees, selling commissions, organization and
offering expenses and operating expenses. Until required for such purposes, net offering proceeds are held in
short-term, liquid investments.
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Our common stock is not currently listed on a national exchange. However, management anticipates
listing the common stock on a national exchange or liquidation of our assets on or before February 20, 2017.
Depending upon then prevailing market conditions, it is the intention of our management to consider beginning
the process of listing {or liquidation) prior to February 20, 2013. In the event we do not obtain listing prior to
February 20, 2017, unless a majority of the board of directors and a majority of the independent directors extend
such date, our charter requires us to begin the sale of our properties and liquidation of our assets.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Financial Statements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. These estimates
include such items as purchase price allocation for real estate acquisitions, impairment of long-lived assets,
depreciation and amortization and allowance for doubtful accounts. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

Principles of Consolidation and Basis of Presentation

Our consolidated financial statements include our accounts and the accounts of our subsidiaries. All
inter-company transactions, balances and profits have been eliminated in consolidation. Interests in entities
acquired are evaluated based on Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation (“FIN”) No. 46R
“Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities”, which requires the consolidation of variable interest entities in
which we are deemed to be the primary beneficiary. If the interest in the entity is determined to not be a
variable interest entity under FIN No. 46R, then the entities are evaluated for consolidation under the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“AICPA”) Statement of Position 78-9 (*"SOP 78-9") “Accounting for
Investments in Real Estate Ventures.”

Real Estate

Upon the acquisition of real estate properties, we allocate the purchase price of those properties to the
tangible assets acquired, consisting of land and buildings, and identified intangible assets based on their fair
values in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141, “Business Combinations.”
Identified intangible assets consist of the fair value of above-market and below-market leases, in-place leases,
in-place tenant improvements and tenant relationships.

The fair value of the tangible assets acquired, consisting of land and buildings, is determined by valuing
the property as if it were vacant, and the “as-if-vacant” value is then allocated to land and buildings. Land
values are derived from appraisals, and building values are calculated as replacement cost less depreciation or
management’s estimates of the relative fair value of these assets using discounted cash flow analyses or similar
methods. The value of the building is depreciated over the estimated useful life of 25 years using the straight-
line method.

We determine the value of above-market and below-market in-place leases for acquired properties based
on the present value (using an interest rate that reflects the risks associated with the leases acquired) of the
difference between (i) the contractual amounts to be paid pursuant to the in-place leases and (ii) management’s
estimate of current market lease rates for the corresponding in-place leases, measured over a period equal to the
remaining non-cancelable terms of the respective leases. We record the fair value of above-market and below-
market leases as intangible assets or intangible liabilities, respectively, and amortize them as an adjustment to
rental income over the remaining non-cancelable terms of the respective leases.

The total value of identified real estate intangible assets acquired is further allocated to in-place lease
values, in-place tenant improvements, in-place leasing commissions and tenant relationships based on
management’s evaluation of the specific characteristics of each tenant’s lease and our overall relationship with
that respective tenant. The aggregate value for tenant improvements and leasing commissions is based on
estimates of these costs incurred at inception of the acquired leases, amortized through the date of acquisition.
The aggregate value of in-place leases acquired and tenant relationships is determined by applying a fair value
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model. The estimates of fair value of in-place leases includes an estimate of carrying costs during the expected
lease-up periods for the respective spaces considering current market conditions. In estimating the carrying
costs that would have otherwise been incurred had the leases not been in place, management includes such items
as real estate taxes, insurance and other operating expenses as well as lost rental revenue during the expected
lease-up period based on current market conditions. The estimates of the fair value of tenant relationships also
include costs to execute similar leases including leasing commissions, legal and tenant improvements as well as
an estimate of the likelihood of renewal as determined by management on a tenant-by-tenant basis.

We amortize the value of in-place leases and in-place tenant improvements to expense over the initial
term of the respective leases. The value of tenant relationship intangibles are amortized to expense over the
initial term and any anticipated renewal periods, but in no event does the amortization period for intangible
assets exceed the remaining depreciable life of the building. Should a tenant terminate its lease, the unamortized
portion of the in-place lease value and tenant relationship intangibles would be charged to expense.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

We consider investments in highly-liquid money market funds with maturities of three months or less to
be cash equivalents. The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents reported on the balance sheet
approximates fair value.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash includes subscription proceeds that are held in escrow until investors are admitted as
stockholders. We admit new stockholders at least monthly. Upon acceptance of stockholders, shares of stock
are issued and subscription proceeds are released to us. Restricted cash as of December 31, 2004 also includes
$2,500,000 held in restricted money market accounts as security for our guarantee of funds borrowed by
Behringer Holdings.

Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets
Prepaid expenses and other assets includes prepaid directors and officers insurance.
Escrow Deposits

Escrow deposits on properties to be acquired include deposits for the purchase of properties that we
have contracted to acquire and rate lock deposits on future borrowings for future acquisitions.

Investments in Tenant-in-Common Interests

Investments in tenant-in-common interests consist of our undivided tenant-in-common interests in
various office buildings located in Minnesota, Texas, Colorado, Missouri, Washington D.C., and Maryland.
Consolidation of these investments is not required as they do not qualify as variable interest entities as defined
in FIN No. 46R and do not meet the voting interest requirements required for consolidation under SOP 78-9.

We account for these investments using the equity method of accounting in accordance with SOP 78-9.
The equity method of accounting requires these investments to be initially recorded at cost and subsequently
increased (decreased) for our share of net income (loss), including eliminations for our share of inter-company
transactions and reduced when distributions are received. We use the equity method of accounting because the
shared decision-making involved in a tenant-in-common interest investment creates an opportunity for us to
have some influence on the operating and financial decisions of these investments and thereby creates some
responsibility by us for a return on our investment. Therefore, it is appropriate to include our proportionate
share of the results of operations of these investments in our earnings or losses.

Investment Impairments

For real estate we own directly, our management monitors events and changes in circumstances
indicating that the carrying amounts of the real estate assets may not be recoverable. When such events or
changes in circumstances are present, we assess potential impairment by comparing estimated future
undiscounted operating cash flows expected to be generated over the life of the asset and from its eventual
disposition, to the carrying amount of the asset. In the event that the carrying amount exceeds the estimated
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future undiscounted operating cash flows, we recognize an impairment loss to adjust the carrying amount of the
asset to estimated fair value.

For real estate we own through an investment in a joint venture, tenant-in-common interest or other
similar investment structure, at each reporting date management will compare the estimated fair value of our
investment to the carrying value. An impairment charge is recorded to the extent the fair value of our
investment is less than the carrying amount and the decline in value is determined to be other than a temporary
decline. No impairment charges have been taken in 2003 or 2004.

Deferred Financing Fees

Deferred financing fees are recorded at cost and are amortized using the effective interest method over
the life of the related debt.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize rental income generated from all leases on real estate assets in which we have an
ownership interest, either directly or through investments in joint ventures, on a straight-line basis over the terms
of the respective leases. Some leases contain provisions for the tenant’s payment of additional rent after certain
tenant sales revenue thresholds are met. Such contingent rent is recognized as revenue after the related revenue
threshold is met.

Offering Costs

Our advisor funds all of the organization and offering costs on our behalf. We are required to reimburse
them for such organization and offering costs up to 2.0% of the cumulative capital raised in the Current Offering
(2.5% of the cumulative capital raised in the Initial Offering). Organization and offering costs include items
such as legal and accounting fees, marketing, promotional and printing costs, and specifically exclude internal
salaries. All offering costs are recorded as an offset to additional paid-in capital, and all organization costs are
recorded as an expense at the time we become liable for the payment of these amounts.

Income Taxes

We have elected to be taxed as a REIT under Sections 856 through 860 of the Internal Revenue Code,
effective for our taxable year ending December 31, 2004. To qualify as a REIT, we must meet a number of
organizational and operational requirements, including a requirement that we distribute at least 90% of our
taxable income to our stockholders. As a REIT, we generally will not be subject to federal corporate income
taxes on net income we distribute to our stockholders. We are organized and operate in such a manner as to
qualify for taxation as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code, and we intend to continue to operate in such a
manner, but no assurance can be given that we will operate in a manner so as to qualify or remain qualified as a
REIT.

Stock Based Compensation

We have three stock-based employee and director compensation plans. We account for these plans
under the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” and
related interpretations.

Concentration of Credit Risk

At December 31, 2004, we had cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash in excess of federally
insured levels on deposit in four financial institutions. We regularly monitor the financial stability of these
financial institutions and believe that we are not exposed to any significant credit risk in cash and cash
equivalents or restricted cash.

Earnings per Share

Earnings per share are calculated based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding
during each period. As of December 31, 2004, we had issued to the independent members of the Board of
Directors options to purchase 9,000 shares of our common stock at $12.00 per share. These options were anti-
dilutive for the year ended December 31, 2004.

F-10




3. New Accounting Pronouncements

FASB No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment,” a revision to FASB No. 123 “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation” was issued in December 2004. The Statement supersedes APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting
for Stock Issued to Employees” and its related implementation guidance. This statement focuses primarily on
accounting for transactions in which an entity obtains employee services in share-based payment transactions
and requires the measurement and recognition of the cost of the employee services received in exchange for an
award of equity instruments for goods or services. The Statement, which is effective as of the beginning of the
first interim or annual reporting period that begins after June 15, 2005, is not expected to have a material effect
on our financial condition, results of operations, or liquidity.

4. Acquisitions

On April 12, 2004, we acquired an undivided 36.31276% tenant-in-common interest in Enclave on the
Lake, a 6-story office building containing approximately 171,090 rentable square feet, located on approximately
6.75 acres of land in Houston, Texas. The purchase price for our 36.31276% tenant-in-comman interest in
Enclave on the Lake was approximately $10,600,000.

On June 30, 2004, we acquired an undivided 35.709251% tenant-in-common interest in St. Louis Place,
a 20-story office building containing approximately 337,088 rentable square feet and located on approximately
0.68 acres of land in St. Louis, Missouri. The purchase price for our 35.709251% tenant-in-common interest in
St. Louis Place was approximately $12,100,000.

On August 10, 2004, we acquired an undivided 79.4752% tenant-in-common interest in the Colorado
Building, an 11-story office building containing approximately 121,701 rentable square feet, located on
approximately 0.31 acres of land in Washington, D.C. The purchase price for our 79.4752% tenant-in-common
interest in the Colorado Building was approximately $37,400,000.

On October 1, 2004, we acquired an undivided 60.0% tenant-in-common interest in Travis Tower, a 21-
story office building containing approximately 507,470 rentable square feet, located on approximately 1.1079
acres of land in Houston, Texas. In December 2004, we purchased an additional 0.430229% interest in Travis
Tower. The purchase price for our 60.430229% tenant-in-common interest in Travis Tower was approximately
$35,300,000.

On December 16, 2004, we acquired the Cyprus Building, a four-story office building containing
approximately 153,048 rentable square feet, located on approximately 8.2 acres of land in Englewood,
Colorado. The purchase price for the Cyprus Building was approximately $20,600,000.

On December 17, 2004, we acquired an undivided 50.67995% tenant-in-common interest in the Pratt
Building, a 24-story office building containing approximately 368,194 rentable square feet, located on
approximately 0.75 acres of land in Baltimore, Maryland. The purchase price for our 50.67995% tenant-in-
common interest in the Pratt Building was approximately $31,300,000.

5. Investments in Tenant-In-Common Interests

The following is a summary of our tenant-in-common interest investments as of December 31, 2004:

Tenant in Carrying

Date Common Value of Mortgage

Property Name Acquired Interest Investment Payable
Minnesota Center 10/15/03 14.467600% $ 5,954,408 $ 4,288,896
Enclave on the Lake 4/12/04 36.312760% 10,293,452 7,208,922
St. Louis Place 6/30/04 35.709251% 11,936,586 7,110,134
Colorado Building 8/10/04 79.475200% 39,190,180 22,253,046
Travis Tower 10/1/04 60.430229% 34,935,478 22,741,375
Pratt Building 12/17/04 50.679950% 31,392,552 18,751,582
Total $ 133,702,656 $ 82,353,955
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Our undivided tenant-in-common interest investments as of December 31, 2004 consisted of our
proportionate share of the following assets and liabilities:

(unaudited)

Land

Buildings, net

Real estate asset intangibles, net
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash

Accounts receivable and other assets
Total assets

Acquired below market lease
intangibles, net

Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Equity

Total liabilities and equity

{(unaudited)

Land

Buildings, net

Real estate asset intangibles, net
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash

Accounts receivable and other assets
Total assets

Acquired below market lease
intangibles, net

Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Equity

Total liabilities and equity

Minnesota Enclave on St. Louis
Center the Lake Place
$ 3,500,000 1,791,446 1,529,501
30,795,841 19,782,774 23,740,442
5,603,337 6,358,881 7,040,634
(411) 696,690 77,034
2,341,082 740,869 2,066,461
294,139 476,346 417,174
$ 42,533,988 29,847,006 34 871,246
245,050 - 721,458
1,132,092 1,503,874 722,636
§ 1,377,142 1,503,874 1,444,094
41,156,846 28,343,132 33,427,152
$ 42,533,988 29,847,006 34,871,246
Colorado Travis Pratt
Building Tower Building
$ 13,328,000 6,230,000 6,700,000
28,847,371 38,122,939 38,110,888
5,676,228 10,524,692 10,470,214
60,080 217,007 150,000
3,629,494 5,625,758 6,519,339
321,025 304,111 637,658
$ 51,862,198 61,024,507 62,588,099
1,745,107 1,546,178 413,968
806,029 1,672,910 231,388
$§ 2,551,136 3,219,088 645,356
49,311,062 57,805,419 61,942,743
$ 51,862,198 61,024,507 62,588,099
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In 2004, we recorded $1,402,847 of equity in earnings and $1,586,299 of distributions from our
undivided tenant-in-common interest investments. Our equity in earnings from these tenant-in-common
investments is our proportionate share of the following earnings of the following properties for the year ended
December 31, 2004:

Minnesota Enclave on St. Louis
(unaudited) Center the Lake Place
Revenue $ 6857468 § 3.049976 § 2,698,908
Operating expenses:
Operating expenses 1,899,743 639,202 809,335
Property taxes 1,175,329 442,535 196,544
Total operating expenses 3,075,072 1,081,737 1,005,899
Operating income 3,782,396 1,968,239 1,693,010
Non-operating (income) expenses
Depreciation and amortization 2,704,898 1,100,893 888,922
(Interest income)/bank fees, net (9,716) 26,977 (5,108)
Total non-operating (income) expenses 2,695,182 1,127,870 883,814
Net income $ 1,087214 $ 840,369  § 809,196
Company's share of net income $ 157,284 % 305,161 § 288,958
Company's share of distributions § 270885 § 280,797  § 239,520
Colorado Travis Pratt
{unaudited) Building Tower Building
Revenue $ 1,649,088 § 2,247989 § 308,917
Operating expenses:
Operating expenses 455,957 601,285 130,910
Property taxes 247,267 266,394 -
Total operating expenses 703,224 867,679 130,910
Operating income 945,864 1,380,310 178,007
Non-operating (income) expenses
Depreciation and amortization 643,906 850,812
(Interest income)/bank fees, net (14) (5,210) -
Total non-operating (income) expenses 543,892 845,602
Net income $ 301972 % 534,708  § 178,007
Company's share of net income (1) $ 239994 $ 321,227 $ 90,214
Company's share of distributions (1) $ 443,063 $ 343,137 $ 8,897

(1) We increased our undivided tenant-in-common interest in Travis Tower from 60.00% to 60.430229% in

December 2004.
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6. Real Estate

Acquisition

On December 16, 2004, we acquired the Cyprus Building, a 4-story office building containing
approximately 153,048 rentable square feet, located on approximately 8.2 acres of land in Englewood,
Colorado. The purchase price for the Cyprus Building was $20,645,160. The purchase price has been allocated
to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as follows:

Description Allocation Estimated Useful Life

Land $ 2,056,361 -
Building 15,500,115 25 years
Below market leases (1,236,682) 3.75 years
Tenant improvements, leasing commissions

& legal fees 595,624 3.75 years
In-place leases 3,835,678 3.75 years
Tenant relationships - -
Deferred rental revenue (105,306) -
Other accruals {630) -

520,645,160

Pro-Forma Results of Operations

The following summary presents the results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2004 and
2003, on an unaudited pro-forma basis, as if the acquisition of the Cyprus Building had occurred as of January 1
of the respective years. The pro-forma results are for illustrative purposes only and do not purport to be
indicative of the actual results that would have occurred had the transaction occurred on January 1 of the
respective years, rior are they indicative of results of operations that may occur in the future.

December 31, 2004 Pro Forma December 31, 2004
as Reported Adjustment Pro Forma

Total revenues $ 129,981 $ 3,096,314 $ 3,226,295
Expenses:
Property operating expense 1,959 29,739 31,698
Interest 2,214,994 - 2,214,994
Real estate taxes 19,967 457,958 477,925
Property and asset management fees 295,111 168,594 463,705
Organization expenses 217,897 - 217,897
General and administrative expense 711,603 2,243 713,846
Depreciation and amortization - 1,801,685 1,801,685
Total expenses 3,461,531 2,460,219 5,921,750
Interest income 389,737 - 389,737
Equity in investments 1,402,847 - 1,402,847
Net income (loss) $ (1,538,966) $ 636,095 $ (902,871)
Basic and diluted weighted average shares outstanding 5,358,697 4,644,046 10,002,743
Basic and diluted loss per share $ (0.29) $ {0.09)
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December 31, 2003 Pro Forma December 31, 2003

as Reported Adjustment Pro Forma

Total revenues $ - $ 3228852 $ 3.228,852
Expenses:

Property operating expense - 28,512 28,512
Interest 60,833 - 60,833
Real estate taxes - 479,217 479,217
Property and asset management fees 10,220 175,822 186,042
Organization expenses 17,575 - 17,575
General and admiristrative expense 222,648 15,164 237,812
Depreciation and amortization - 1,801,685 1,801,685
Total expenses 311,276 2,500,400 2,811,676
Interest income 3,767 - 3,767
Equity in investments 18,176 - 18,176
Net income (loss) $ (289,333) $§ 728452 $ 439,119
Basic and diluted weighted average shares outstanding 142,430 8,108,510 8.250,940
Basic and diluted loss per share $ (2.03) $ 0.05

7.  Leasing Activity

Future minimum base rental payments due to us under non-cancelable leases in effect as of December 31,
2004, for our 100%-owned property, the Cyprus Building, were as follows:

2005 $ 2,408,885
2006 2,408,885
2007 2,408,885
2008 1,806,664
2009 "
Total $§ 9,033,319

8. Mortgages Payable

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2004:

Principal Payments due by period

Less than 1-3 3-5 More than
Total 1 year years years 5 years
Mortgage notes payable
Minnesota Center $ 4288896 $ 51,035 % 112,158 § 126,305 § 3,999,398
Enclave on the Lake 7,208,922 101,916 221,236 246,654 6,639,116
St. Louis Place 7,110,134 82,295 180,572 202,908 6,644,359
Colerado Property 22,253,046 - - 62,072 22,190,974
Travis Tower 22,741,375 297,600 646,600 718,104 21,079,071
Pratt Building 18,751,582 229,201 534,064 17,988,317

$ 82353955 § 632846 $ 1389767 & 1.890,107 § 78541235

We used borrowings of $4,340,280 (the “Minnesota Center Loan”) under a non-recourse loan
agreement with Greenwich Capital Financial Products, Inc (the “Minnesota Center Loan Agreement”) to pay a
portion of our 14.4676% tenant-in-common interest in the Minnesota Center. The remaining tenant-in-common
interests in the Minnesota Center were acquired by various investors who purchased their interests in a private
offering sponsored by our affiliate, Behringer Holdings. Each tenant-in-common investor, including us, is a
borrower under the Minnesota Center Loan Agreement. The original total borrowings of all tenant-in-common
interest holders under the Minnesota Center Loan Agreement were $30,000,000. The Minnesota Center Loan
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accrues interest at 6.181%, and requires principal and interest payments monthly based on a 30-year
amortization period, with any unamortized principal due at maturity on November 1, 2010. The Minnesota
Center Loan Agreement requires a minimum debt coverage ratio of not less than 1.10 and permits no
prepayment until the earlier of (i) 42 months following inception of the Minnesota Center Loan or (ii) two years
after securitization (“Minnesota Center Lockout Period”). The Minnesota Center is held as collateral for the
Minnesota Center Loan. Certain obligations under the Minnesota Center Loan are guaranteed by Robert M.
Behringer and Behringer Holdings. The Minnesota Center Loan may only be prepaid after the Minnesota
Center Lockout Period. As of December 31, 2004, our outstanding principal balance under the Minnesota
Center Loan was $4,288,896.

We used borrowings of $7,262,552 (the “Enclave Loan") under a loan agreement (the “Enclave Loan
Agreement”) with State Farm Life Insurance Company to pay a portion of the purchase price for our undivided
36.31276% tenant-in-common interest in Enclave on the Lake. The remaining tenant-in-common interests in
Enclave on the Lake were acquired by various investors who purchased their interests in a private offering
sponsored by our affiliate, Behringer Holdings. Each tenant-in-common investor, including us, is a borrower
under the Enclave Loan Agreement. The original total borrowings of all tenant-in-common interest holders
under the Enclave Loan Agreement were $20,000,000. The interest rate under the Enclave Loan is fixed at
5.45% per annum, and requires principal and interest payments monthly based on a 30-year amortization period,
with any unamortized principal due at maturity. The Enclave on the Lake is held as collateral for the Enclave
Loan. Certain obligations under the Enclave Loan are guaranteed by Robert M. Behringer and Behringer
Holdings. The Enclave Loan Agreement allows for prepayment of the entire outstanding principal after 42
months from the date of the Enclave Loan Agreement subject to the payment of a prepayment penalty. No
prepayment penalty is due after 81 months from the date of the Enclave Loan Agreement. The Enclave Loan
has a seven-year term. As of December 31, 2004, our outstanding principal balance under the Enclave Loan
was $7,208,922.

We used borrowings of $7,141,850 (the “St. Louis Place Loan”) under a loan agreement (the “St. Louis
Place Loan Agreement”) with Greenwich Capital Financial Products, Inc. to pay a portion of our undivided
35.709251% tenant-in-common interest in St. Louis Place. The remaining tenant-in-common interests in St.
Louis Place were acquired by various investors who purchased their interests in a private offering sponsored by
our affiliate, Behringer Holdings. Each tenant-in-common investor, including us, is a borrower under the St.
Louis Place Loan Agreement. The original total borrowings of all tenant-in-common interest holders under the
St. Louis Place Loan Agreement were $20,000,000. The interest rate under the St. Louis Place Loan is fixed at
6.078% per annum, and requires principal and interest payments monthly based on a 30-year amortization
period, with any unamortized principal due at maturity. St. Louis Place is held as ccllateral for the St. Louis
Place Loan. Certain obligations under the St. Louis Place Loan are guaranteed by Robert M. Behringer and
Behringer Holdings. The St. Louis Place Loan Agreement requires a minimum debt coverage ratio of not less
than 1.10 and prohibits prepayment until the earlier of (i) 42 months or (ii) 2 years after securitization after
which and prior to month 81 it may be defeased. The St. Louis Place Loan Agreement has a seven-year term.
As of December 31, 2004, our outstanding principal balance under the St. Louis Place Loan was $7,110,134.

We used borrowings of $19,868,791 (the “Colorado Property Loan”) under a loan agreement (the
“Colorado Property Loan Agreement”) with Greenwich Capital Financial Products, Inc. to pay a portion of our
undivided 79.4752% tenant-in-common interest in the Colorado Building. Additional borrowings of $2,384,255
have been made under this loan for tenant improvements. The remaining tenant-in-common interests in the
Colorado Building were acquired by various investors who purchased their interests in a private offering
sponsored by our affiliate, Behringer Holdings. Each tenant-in-common investor, including us, is a borrower
under the Colorado Property Loan Agreement. The original total borrowings of all tenant-in-common interest
holders under the Colorado Property Loan Agreement were $25,000,000. Total additional borrowings of
$3,000,000 were available under this loan agreement for tenant improvements and all $3,000,000 had been
borrowed as of December 31, 2004. The interest rate under the Colorado Property Loan is fixed at 6.075% per
annum. The Colorado Property is held as collateral for the Colorado Property Loan. Certain obligations under
the Colorado Property Loan are guaranteed by Robert M. Behringer and Behringer Holdings. The Colorado
Property Loan Agreement requires a minimum debt coverage ratio of not less than 1.10 and allows for
prepayment of the entire outstanding principal with no prepayment fee from and after the third payment prior to
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maturity, with at least 15 days prior notice. The Colorado Property Loan Agreement has a ten-year term. As of
December 31, 2004, our outstanding principal balance under the Colorado Property Loan Agreement was
$22,253,046.

We used borrowings of $22,812,411 (the “Travis Tower Loan”) under a loan agreement (the “Travis
Tower Loan Agreement”) with Bear Stearns Commercial Mortgage, Inc. to pay a portion of our undivided
60.430229% tenant-in-common interest in the Travis Tower. The remaining tenant-in-common interests in the
Travis Tower were acquired by various investors who purchased their interests in a private offering sponsored
by our affiliate, Behringer Holdings. Each tenant-in-common investor, including us, is a party to the Travis
Tower Loan Agreement. The total borrowings of all tenant-in-common interest holders under the Travis Tower
Loan Agreement were $37,750,000. The interest rate under the Travis Tower Loan Agreement is fixed at
5.434% per annum. Travis Tower is held as collateral for the Travis Tower Loan. Certain obligations under the
Travis Tower Loan are guaranteed by Robert M. Behringer and Behringer Holdings. The Travis Tower Loan
Agreement requires a minimum debt coverage ratio of not less than 1.65 and allows for prepayment of the entire
outstanding principal with no prepayment fee during the last three months prior to maturity. The Travis Tower
Loan Agreement has a ten-year term. As of December 31, 2004, our outstanding principal balance under the
Travis Tower Loan was $22,741,375.

We used borrowings of $18,751,582 (the “Pratt Loan”) under a loan agreement (the “Pratt Loan
Agreement”) with Citigroup Global Markets Realty Corporation to pay a portion of our undivided 50.67995%
tenant-in-common interest in the Pratt Building. The remaining tenant-in-common interests in the Pratt
Building were acquired by various investors who purchased their interests in a private offering sponsored by our
affiliate, Behringer Holdings. Each tenant-in-common investor, including us, is a party to the Pratt Loan
Agreement. The total borrowings of all tenant-in-common interest holders under the Pratt Property Loan
Agreement were $37,000,000. The interest rate under the Pratt Loan Agreement is fixed at 5.285% per annum.
The Pratt Building is held as collateral for the Pratt Loan. Certain obligations under the Pratt Loan are
guaranteed by Robert M. Behringer and Behringer Holdings. The Pratt Loan Agreement requires a minimum
debt coverage ratio of not less than 1.10 and allows for prepayment of the entire outstanding principal with no
prepayment fee during the last three months prior to maturity. The Pratt Loan Agreement has a ten-year term.
As of December 31, 2004, our outstanding principal balance under the Pratt Loan was $18,751,582.

On December 30, 2004, we entered into a Revolving Credit Agreement with Bank of America, N.A. for
up to $12,000,000 of available borrowings (“the “Revolver”). The Revolver has a two-year term with the option
to extend for one additional year. The Cyprus Building, which we acquired on December 16, 2004, is subject to
a deed of trust to secure payment of the Revolver. We can borrow, repay and reborrow again up to the available
borrowing limit. As of December 31, 2004, we had no outstanding borrowings under the Revolver.

9. Stockholders’ Equity
Capitalization

As of December 31, 2004, we had accepted subscriptions for 13,109,282 shares of our common stock,
including 20,000 shares owned by Behringer Holdings. As of December 31, 2004, we had no shares of
preferred stock issued and outstanding. As of such date we had issued options to acquire 9,000 shares of
common stock to the independent members of the Board of Directors. As of December 31, 2004, participating
individual broker-dealers had the right to acquire up to 523,571 offering warrants for a nominal fee; however
none of the offering warrants had been issued.

Share Redemption Program

Our board of directors has authorized a share redemption program for investors who hold their shares
for more than one year. The purchase price for the redeemed shares is set forth in the prospectus for our Current
Offering of common stock. Our board of directors reserves the right in its sole discretion at any time, and from
time to time, to (1) waive the one-year holding period in the event of the death, disability or bankruptcy of a
stockholder or other exigent circumstances, (2) reject any request for redemption, (3) change the purchase price
for redemptions, or (4) terminate, suspend or amend the share redemption program. Under the terms of the plan,
during any calendar year, we will not redeem in excess of 5% of the weighted average number of shares
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outstanding during the prior calendar year. In addition, our board of directors will determine whether we have
sufficient cash from operations to repurchase shares, and such purchases will generally be limited to 1% of
operating cash flow for the previous fiscal year plus proceeds of our distribution reinvestment plan.

Distributions

We initiated the payment of monthly distributions in November 2003 in the amount of a 7% annualized
rate of return, based on an investment in our common stock of $10.00 per share and calculated on a daily record
basis of $0.0019178 per share. We have a distribution reinvestment plan ("DRIP”) whereby stockholders may
elect to reinvest any cash distribution in additional shares of common stock. We record all distributions when
declared, except that the stock issued through the DRIP is recorded when the shares are actually issued. The
following are the distributions declared during the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003:

2004 Total Cash DRIP
1st Quarter $ 265,859 160,830 $ 105,029
2nd Quarter 554,010 327,485 226,525
3rd Quarter 1,089,066 620,118 468,948
4th Quarter 1,875,120 1,040,892 834,228
$ 3,784,055 2,149,325 $ 1,634,730
2003 Total Cash DRIP
1st Quarter $ - - $ -
2nd Quarter - - -
3rd Quarter - - -
4th Quarter 91,408 44,215 47,193
3 91,408 44,215 $ 47,193
Stock Plans

Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan

We adopted the Behringer Harvard REIT I, Inc. Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan (“Director
Option Plan”) in June 2002. A total of 1,000,000 shares of our common stock has been authorized and reserved
for issuance under the Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan. On May 27, 2004, the independent members
of our Board of Directors were granted options to purchase a total of 9,000 shares of our common stock at an
exercise price of $12.00 per share under our Non-Employee Director Option Plan. These options vest on May
27, 2005 and expire on May 27, 2009. As of December 31, 2004, all 9,000 stock options were outstanding and
none had been exercised. These options were anti-dilutive for the year ended December 31, 2004.

Non-Employee Director Warrant Plan

We adopted the Behringer Harvard REIT I, Inc. Non-Employee Director Warrant Plan (“Director
Warrant Plan”) in June 2002. A total of 1,000,000 shares of our common stock has been authorized and
reserved for issuance under the Non-Employee Director Warrant Plan.

Under the Non-Employee Director Warrant Plan, each director who is not an employee of ours or
Behringer Advisors or their affiliates will automatically receive a warrant to purchase one share of our common
stock for every 25 shares of our common stock that he or she purchases during the purchase period. The
exercise price of the warrants will initially be $12.00 per share, and thereafter the exercise price will be equal to
120% of the fair market value of our common stock.

As of December 31, 2004, no warrants have been granted under the Director Warrant Plan.
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2002 Employee Stock Option Plan

We adopted the Behringer Harvard REIT [, Inc. 2002 Employee Stock Option Plan (*Employee Option
Plan”) in June 2002 pursuant to which options may be issued to our employees and certain of our affiliates. A
total of 10,000,000 shares of our common stock have been authorized and reserved for issuance under the
Employee Option Plan. As of December 31, 2004, we have no employees and no options have been granted
under the Employee Option Plan.

The exercise price of options granted under the Employee Option Plan will initially be $12.00 per share,
and thereafter the exercise price of options granted will be no less than 120% of the fair market value of our
common stock.

11. Related Party Transactions

Certain of our affiliates received fees and compensation in connection with the Initial Offering, and in
connection with the acquisition, management and sale of our assets. The following is a summary of the related
party fees and compensation we incurred during the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003.

Total capitalized
Total capitalized o investments in
Total woffering  tenant-in-common  Total capitelized ~ Total
for the year ended Decmber 31, 2004 incuired Costs interests toreal estatle  expensed
Behringer Securities commissions and dealer manager fees §11379.466  §11.379466  § - § -3
Behringer Advisors, reimbursement of organization and offering expenses 3,040,050 2,822,153 - - 217,897
Behringer Advisors, acquisition, advisory fees and expenses 5,103,032 - 4,410,032 693,000
HPT Management LP, property management and leasing fees 205.515 - - - 205,515
Behringer Advisors, asset management fee 89,596 - - 89.596
Total $19817659  §14201619 & 4410032 $693,000 3 513,008
Total capitelized
Total capitalized  to investments in
Total tooffering  tenant-in-common  Total capitalized ~ Total
for the vear ended Decmber 31, 2003 incurred Costs interests to real estate  expensed
Behringer Securities commissions and dealer manager fees § 76334 § 76334 3 - $ -8
Behringer Advisors, reimbursement of organization and offering expenses 204,887 187,312 - - 17,575
Behringer Advisors, acquisition, advisory fees and expenses 220,193 - 220,193
HPT Management LP, property management and leasing fees 7,148 - - - 7,148
Behringer Advisors, asset management fee 3072 - - 3072
Total $ 1198654 § 950666 § 220193 $ -8 9%

Behringer Securities LP (“Behringer Securities”), our affiliated dealer manager for the Offering,
receives commissions of up to 7.0% of gross offering proceeds before reallowance of commissions earned by
participating broker-dealers. In connection with the Initial Offering, up to 2.5% of gross proceeds before
reallowance to participating broker-dealers were paid to Behringer Securities as a dealer manager fee; except
that this dealer manager fee was reduced to 1.0% of the gross proceeds of purchases made pursuant to our
distribution reinvestment plan. In connection with the Current Offering, up to 2.0% of gross proceeds before
reallowance to participating broker-dealers will be paid to Behringer Securities as a dealer manager fee; except
that no dealer manager fee will be paid on purchases made pursuant to our distribution reinvestment plan.
Behringer Securities reallows all of its commissions of up to 7.0% of gross offering proceeds to participating
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broker-dealers and reallows a portion of its dealer manager fee of up to 1.5% of the gross offering proceeds to
be paid to such participating broker-dealers as marketing fees, including bona fide conference fees incurred, and
due diligence expense reimbursement. In the year ended December 31, 2004, Behringer Securities’
commissions and dealer manager fees totaled $8,335,419 and $3,044,047, respectively and were capitalized as
offering costs in “Additional paid-in capital” on our balance sheet. In the year ended December 31, 2003,
Behringer Securities’ commissions and dealer manager fees totaled $558,218 and $205,136, respectively and
were capitalized as offering costs in “Additional paid-in capital” on our balance sheet.

Behringer Advisors, our affiliated advisor, or its affiliates, received up to 2.5% of gross offering
proceeds for reimbursement of organization and offering expenses incurred in connection with the Initial
Offering. As of December 31, 2004, $5,580,496 of organization and offering expenses had been incurred by
Behringer Advisors on our behalf, of which $3,244,938 had been reimbursed by us and the balance of
$2,335,558 will be reimbursed at a rate of 2.5% of equity raised in the Initial Offering and 2.0% of equity raised
in the Current Offering. Reimbursement of organization and offering expenses incurred in connection with the
Current Offering will be made at the rate of 2.0% of the gross offering proceeds; except that no organization and
offering expenses will be reimbursed with respect to purchases made pursuant to our distribution reinvestment
plan. Of the $3,244,938 of organization and offering expenses reimbursed by us through December 31, 2004,
$3,009,465 had been capitalized as offering costs in “Additional paid-in capital” on our balance sheet and
$235,473 has been expensed as organizational costs. For the year ended December 31, 2004, $3,040,050 of
organization and offering expenses were reimbursed by us, of which $2,822,153 was capitalized as offering
costs in “Additional paid-in capital” and $217,897 was expensed as organizational costs. For the year ended
December 31, 2003, $204,887 of organization and offering expenses were reimbursed by us, of which $187,312
was capitalized as offering costs in “Additional paid-in capital” and $17,575 was expensed as organizational
costs. Behringer Advisors or its affiliates determines the amount of organization and offering expenses owed
based on specific invoice identification as well as an allocation of costs to us and Behringer Harvard Mid-Term
Value Enhancement Fund I LP and Behringer Harvard Short-Term Opportunity Fund I LP, our affiliates, based
on anticipated respective equity offering sizes of those entities.

In connection with the Initial Offering and for acquisitions made prior to February 11, 2005, Behringer
Advisors or their affiliates also received acquisition and advisory fees of up to 3.0% of the contract purchase
price of each asset for the acquisition, development or construction of real property or, with respect to any
mortgage loan, up to 3.0% of the funds advanced for the purchase or making of a mortgage loan. In connection
with the Current Offering, such fees have been reduced to 2.5% in for acquisitions made on or after February 11,
2005. Behringer Advisors or their affiliates also received up to 0.5% of the contract purchase price of the real
estate assets we acquired or, with respect to the making or purchase of a mortgage loan up to 0.5% of the funds
advanced, for reimbursement of expenses related to making investments. In the year ended December 31, 2004,
Behringer Advisors earned $5,103,032 in acquisition and advisory fees for the investments we acquired. In the
year ended December 31, 2003, Behringer Advisors earned $220,193 in acquisition and advisory fees for the
investments we acquired. We capitalized these fees as part of our real estate or investments in tenant-in-
common interests.

We have paid and expect to pay in the future HPT Management LP ("HPT Management”), our affiliated
property manager, fees for the management and leasing of our properties, which may be subcontracted to
unaffiliated third parties. Such fees are expected to equal 3.0% of gross revenues of the respective property,
plus leasing commissions based upon the customary leasing commission applicable to the geographic location of
the respective property. We incurred fees of $205,515 in the year ended December 31, 2004 for the services
provided by HPT Management in connection with the tenant-in-common investments. We incurred fees of
$7,148 in the year ended December 31, 2003 for the services provided by HPT Management in connection with
our tenant-in-common investments and other real estate investments.

In connection with the Initial Offering, we have paid Behringer Advisors an annual advisor asset
management fee of 0.5% of aggregate asset value for periods prior to March 2005. Any portion of the asset
management fee may be deferred and paid in a subsequent year. In connection with the Current Offering, such
fees have been increased to 0.6% of aggregate asset value for periods starting after February 2005. In the year
ended December 31, 2004, we incurred $89,596 of advisor asset management fees. In the year ended December
31, 2003, we incurred $3,072 of advisor asset management fees.
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Behringer Advisors or their affiliates will also be paid fees if the advisor provides a substantial amount
of services, as determined by our independent directors, in connection with the sale of one or more properties.
In such event, we will pay the advisor an amount not exceeding the lesser of: (A) one-half of the brokerage
commission paid, or (B) 3.0% of the sales price of each property sold, provided that such fee will be
subordinated to distributions to investors from sales proceeds of an amount which, together with prior
distributions to the investors, will equal (1) 100.0% of their capital contributions plus (2) a 9.0% annual,
cumulative, non-compounded return on their capital contributions. Subordinated disposition fees that are not
payable at the date of sale, because investors have not yet received their required minimum distributions, will be
deferred and paid at such time as these subordination conditions have been satisfied. In addition, after investors
have received a return of their net capital contributions and a 9.0% annual, cumulative, non-compounded return,
then Behringer Advisors is entitled to 15.0% of remaining net sales proceeds. Subordinated participation in net
sales proceeds that are not payable at the date of sale, because investors have not yet received their required
minimum distribution, will be deferred and paid at such time as the subordination conditions have been satisfied.

Upon listing of our common stock on a national securities exchange or inclusion for quotation on The
Nasdag Stock Market, a listing fee will be paid to Behringer Advisors equal to 15.0% of the amount by which
the market value of our outstanding stock plus distributions we paid prior to listing exceeds the sum of (i) the
total amount of capital raised from investors and (if) a 9.0% annual, cumulative, non-compounded return to
investors on their capital contributions. Upon termination of the Advisory Agreement with Behringer Advisors,
a performance fee will be paid to Behringer Advisors of 15.0% of the amount by which our appraised asset
value at the time of such termination exceeds the aggregate capital contributions contributed by investors plus
payment to investors of a 9.0% annual, cumulative, non-compounded return on the capital contributed by
investors. No performance fee will be paid if we have already paid or become obligated to pay Behringer
Advisors a listing fee. Persons independent of us and independent of our advisor will perform such appraisal of
our asset value.

We will reimburse Behringer Advisors for all expenses it pays or incurs in connection with the services
it provides to us, subject to the limitation that we will not reimburse for any amount by which the advisor’s
operating expenses (including the asset management fee) at the end of the four fiscal quarters immediately
preceding the date reimbursement is sought exceeds the greater of: (i) 2.0% of our average invested assets, or
(if) 25.0% of our net income for that four quarter period other than any additions to reserves for depreciation,
bad debts or other similar non-cash reserves and any gain from the sale of our assets for that period.

At December 31, 2004, we had a receivable from affiliates of $200,747. This balance includes an
expected refund of $200,000 from State Farm Life Insurance Company related to the acquisition of Enclave on
the Lake. The refund was received by Harvard Property Trust LLC in 2004 and will be refunded to us in April
2005.

We are dependent on Behringer Advisors, Behringer Securities and HPT Management for certain
services that are essential to us, including the sale of shares of our common stock, asset acquisition and
disposition decisions, property management and leasing services and other general administrative
responsibilities. In the event that these companies were unable to provide us with the respective services, we
would be required to obtain such services from other sources.

12. Income Taxes

We have elected to be taxed as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code, effective for our taxable year
ending December 31, 2004. Accordingly, we generally will not be subject to federal corporate income taxes on
net income we distribute to our stockholders, assuming that we continue to meet certain organizational and
operating requirements.

13. Commitments and Contingencies

On January 28, 2004, we entered into an agreement with Behringer Holdings (the “Accommodation
Agreement”) whereby we would provide loan guarantees to Behringer Holdings, so that Behringer Holdings
may use such loan guarantees to secure short-term loans from lenders to fund acquisition and syndication costs
related to acquiring real estate projects for tenant-in-common syndication. Each guaranty will be for a period
not to exceed six months and shall be limited to no more than $1,000,000. Behringer Holdings must pay us a
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1% fee of any loan we guarantee for each six-month period. Behringer Holdings has granted us a security
interest in each purchase agreement entered into with respect to a project for which we make a guaranty. If
Behringer Holdings fails to acquire such project, they shall transfer all of their rights under the purchase
agreement to us and cooperate with us to obtain an extension of the purchase agreement with the seller. During
February 2004, we placed $2,500,000 in restricted money market accounts with lenders as security for funds to
be advanced to Behringer Holdings for future loans. As of December 31, 2004, we had no guarantees
outstanding on borrowings by Behringer Holdings.

On August 9, 2004, the Accommodation Agreement was amended and restated to include 1) options to
extend the six month guaranty period for one or more additional six-month periods, with an additional 1% fee
payable on the date of each extension; and 2) the option for our guarantees to include the guarantee of bridge
loans. A bridge loan, as defined in the Amended and Restated Accommodation Agreement, is any loan pursuant
to which Behringer Holdings acquires an interest in respect of a project, which interest is intended to be sold in a
tenant-in-common offering. Each bridge guaranty is limited to no more than the obligations under the bridge
loan. The term and fees associated with the bridge guarantees are the same as those of the other guarantees
allowed under this agreement. We and our affiliates have the right, but not an obligation, to purchase up to a 5%
interest in each project with respect to which we made a guaranty. Our purchase price for each 1% interest in a
project will equal the price paid by Behringer Holdings, plus a pro rata share of the closing costs.

On August 13, 2004 we entered into an Extended Rate Lock Agreement with Bear Stearns Commercial
Mortgage to lock an interest rate of 5.43% for up to $60,000,000 in borrowings. We have made total deposits of
$1,800,000 ($1,200,000 initial deposit and $600,000 in additional deposits) under this agreement as of
December 31, 2004. The initial and additional deposits are refundable to us in amounts equal to 2% of any
loans funded under the agreement. If the loans are not made for any reason other than lender willful default, we
are responsible for any interest rate hedging losses incurred by Bear Stearns Commercial Mortgage in
connection with these transactions. The initial rate lock period expired on September 13, 2004; however the
Extended Rate Lock Agreement allows us to extend the rate lock in 15-day increments at a nonrefundable cost
of $75,000 per occurrence through February 13, 2005. These extension payments are expensed as incurred and
amounted to $525,000 for the year ended December 31, 2004. Subsequent to year-end, we agreed with Bear
Stearns Commercial Mortgage to extend the expiration date of the Extended Rate Lock Agreement through
August 2005.

14. Fair Value Disclosure of Financial Instruments

We determined the following disclosure of estimated fair values using available market information and
appropriate valuation methodologies. However, considerable judgment is necessary to interpret market data and
develop the related estimates of fair value. Accordingly, the estimates presented herein are not necessarily
indicative of the amounts that could be realized upon disposition of the financial instruments. The use of
different market assumptions and/or estimation methodologies may have a material effect on the estimated fair
value amounts.

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash are short term and/or highly liquid in nature.
Accordingly, fair value approximates the carrying values of these items.

The mortgages payable totaling approximately $82,400,000 as of December 31, 2004 have a fair value
of approximately $84,900,000 based upon interest rates for mortgages with similar terms and remaining
maturities that management believes we could obtain.

The fair value estimate presented herein is based on information available to our management as of
December 31, 2004. Although our management is not aware of any factors that would significantly affect the
estimated fair value amount, such amount has not been comprehensively revalued for purposes of these
consolidated financial statements since that date, and current estimates of fair value may differ significantly
from the amounts presented herein.
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15. Quarterly Results (Unaudited)

Presented below is a summary of the unaudited quarterly financial information for the years ended
December 31, 2004 and 2003:

2004 Quarters Ended
March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
Revenues $ -3 -3 -8 129,981
Net loss $ (148382) § (226,053) $ (449,306) $  (715,225)
Weighted average shares outstanding 1,510,520 3,151,134 6,153,181 10,604,837
Basic and diluted loss per share $ (0.10) § (0.07) $ 0.07) 3 0.07)
Distributions per share $ 017 017 § 018 § 0.18
2003 Quarters Ended
March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
Revenues $ -3 - § -3 -
Net loss $ (69 $ (1813) §  (92937) § (194,514
Weighted average shares outstanding 20,000 20,000 20,000 505,728
Basic and diluted loss per share (1) $ - $ (0.09) $ (4.65) § (0.33)
Distributions per share $ -8 -3 -3 0.18

(1) The large change in the loss per share from the third quarter 2003 of $(4.65) to $(0.38) in the fourth quarter
of 2003 is due to the acceptance of subscriptions for common stock which began in the fourth quarter 2003 upon
satisfying the established minimum offering requirement of the Initial Offering of $2,500,000 on October 1, 2003.

16. Subsequent Events

On January 6, 2005, we acquired a six-stary office building containing approximately 288,175 rentable
square feet and a four-story parking garage located on approximately 10.6 acres of land in Atlanta, Georgia (the
“Ashford Perimeter”). The purchase price of the Ashford Perimeter was approximately $54,000,000, including
closing costs. We used borrowings of $35,400,000 under a loan agreement with Bear Stearns Commercial
Mortgage, Inc. to pay a portion of the contract purchase price and paid the remaining amount from proceeds of
our Initial Offering.

On February 11, 2005, our Registration Statement on Form S-3, related to our Current Offering, was
declared effective.

On February 22, 2005, we entered into an assignment from Harvard Property Trust, LLC, an affiliated
entity, of a contract to purchase a property located at 2383 Utah Avenue (the “Utah Building”), a one-story
office building containing approximately 150,495 rentable square feet located on approximately 9.6 acres of
land in El Segundo, California. The contract purchase price for the Utah Building will be $27,500,000,
excluding closing costs. This acquisition is anticipated to close in the second quarter of 2005.

On February 24, 2005, we acquired an undivided 30.583629% tenant-in-common interest in a sixteen-
story office building containing approximately 191,151 rentable square feet and a four-story parking garage
located on approximately 1.15 acres of land in Denver, Colorado (the “Alamo Plaza”). The total contract
purchase price of the Alamo Plaza, exclusive of closing costs and initial escrows, was $41,850,000. We
borrowed $31,500,000 under a loan agreement with Citigroup Global Markets Realty Corporation to pay a
portion of our share of such contract purchase price and paid the remaining amount from proceeds of our
offering of common stock to the public.
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Report of Independent Auditors

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Behringer Harvard REIT I, Inc.:

In our opinion, the accompanying combined balance sheet and the related combined statements of
operations, of tenant-in-common interests and of cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the combined
financial position of the tenant-in-common interest holders of the Colorado Building at December 31, 2004, and
the results of its operations and its cash flows for the period from August 10, 2004 (date of acquisition) through
December 31, 2004 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. These combined financial statements are the responsibility of the tenant-in-common interest holders’
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these combined financial statements based on our
audit. We conducted our audit of these statements in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in
the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the combined financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the combined financial
statemnents, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and
evaluating the overall combined financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
March 31, 2005
Dallas, Texas
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The Colorado Building, Tenant-in-Common Interests
Combined Balance Sheet
as of December 31,

2004

Assets
Real estate, net 43,443,201
Acquired lease intangibles, net 5,844,743
Cash and cash equivalents 60,080
Restricted cash 3,629,494
Accounts receivable, net 289,514
Prepaid expenses 31,511

Total assets 53,298,543
Liabilities and tenant-in-common interests
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 569,652
Acquired below market lease intangibles, net 1,745,107
Tenant security deposits and prepaid rent 226,137

Total liabilities 2,540,896
Tenant-in-common interests 90,757,647

Total liabilities and tenant-in-commaon interests 53,298,543
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The Colorado Building, Tenant-in-Common Interests
Combined Statement of Operations

Date of acquisition
(August 10, 2004)
through
December 31, 2004

Revenues:
Rental income $ 1,440,997
Tenant reimbursement income 208,090
Total revenues 1,649,087

Operating costs and expenses:

General and operating expenses 322,185
Utilities 133,758
Real estate taxes 247,267
Depreciation and amortization 670,057
Total operating costs and expenses 1,373,267

Net income 3 275,820
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The Colorado Building, Tenant-in-Common interests
Combined Statement of Tenant-in-Common interests

Initial acquisition of tenant-in-common interests on August 10, 2004
Cash distributions to tenant-in-common interests
Net income allocated to tenant-in-common interests

Combined tenants-in-common interests at December 31, 2004
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The Colorado Building, Tenant-in-Common Interests
Combined Statement of Cash Flows

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash
provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Bad debt expense
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Prepaid insurance
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Net cash used in operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of Colorado tenant-in-common interests
Additions to real estate
Change in restricted cash

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:
Contributions from tenants-in-common
Distributions to tenants-in-common

Net cash provided by financing activities

Net change in cash and cast equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period
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Date of acquisition
(August 10, 2004)
through
December 31, 2004

$ 275,820

582,441
16,491

(306,005)
137,088
(300,821)

405,014

(50,993,827)
(98,766)
265,832

(50,826,761)

50,993,827
(512,000)

50,481,827

60,080

$ 60,080




The Colorado Building Tenant-in-Common Interests
Notes to Combined Financial Statements

1. Organization

On August 10, 2004, several unrelated parties acquired an undivided 100% tenant-in-common interest
in an office building in Washington D.C. (the “Colorado Building”). Behringer Harvard REIT I, Inc. acquired a
79.4752% tenant-in-common interest and the remaining 20.5248% tenant-in-common interest was acquired by
several unaffiliated persons. These combined financial statements represent 100% of the combined tenant-in-
common-interests in the Colorado Building for the period from August 10, 2004 through December 31, 2004
and are being presented to satisfy certain of reporting requirements of the REIT.

The tenant-in-common interest holders acquired the Colorado Building at a cost of approximately
$51,000,000 which was funded by approximately $23,000,000 in cash and $28,000,000 in borrowings by the
individual tenant-in-common interest holders. The purchase price was allocated to assets and liabilities acquired
as follows:

Land $ 13,328,000
Building 30,459,082
Lease intangibles, net 4,302,972
Cash and restricted cash 3,895,326
Miscellaneous other assets and liabilities (991,553)
Real estate, net $ 50,993,827

The tenant-in-common interest holders have entered into a tenant-in-common agreement (the “TIC
Agreement”) under which each of the tenants-in-common are each obligated to pay their pro-rata share of any
future cash contributions required in connection with the ownership, operation, management and maintenance of
the Colorado Building. Additionally, all tenant-in-common interest holders must approve certain major
decisions relating to the Colorado Building including the sale, exchange, lease, release, any loans or
modifications of any loans collateralized by the Colorado Building, the approval of the property management
agreement and any extension, renewal or modification thereof. Each tenant-in-common interest holder may sell,
transfer, convey, pledge, encumber or hypothecate its undivided interest in the Colorado Building or any part
thereof, provided that any transferee shall take such interest subject to the Colorado Building TIC Agreement.
Under the Colorado Building TIC agreement all income, expenses, losses, liabilities and cash flows from the
Colorado Building are allocated to the tenants-in-common in proportion to their undivided interests in the

property.

The tenant-in-common interest holders have also individually entered into a property asset and
management agreement (the “Management Agreement”) with an affiliate of us.

These combined financial statements exclude the $28,000,000 of borrowings (the “Colorado Building
Loan”) with Greenwich Capital Financial Products, Inc. (the “Lender”), which was used to partially fund the
cost of the Colorado Building, and the related interest expense, which is the obligation of the individual tenant-
in-common interest holders. These combined financial statements also exclude property and asset management
fees expense as the Management Agreement is the responsibility of the individual tenant-in-common interest
holders and not of the combined tenant-in-common interests.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Real Estate

Upon the acquisition of the Colorado Building, the purchase price was allocated to the tangible assets
acquired, consisting of land and building, and identified intangible assets. Identified intangible assets consisted
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of the fair value of above-market and below-market leases, in-place leases, in-place tenant improvements and
tenant relationships.

The fair value of the tangible assets acquired, consisting of land and building, was determined by
valuing the property as if it were vacant, and the “as-if-vacant” value was then allocated to land and building.
The land value was derived from appraisals, and the building value was calculated as replacement cost less
depreciation or management’s estimates of the relative fair value of this asset using discounted cash flow
analyses or similar methods. The value of the building is depreciated over the estimated useful life of 25 years
using the straight-line method.

The value of above-market and below-market in-place leases for the property was determined based on
the present value (using an interest rate which reflects the risks associated with the leases acquired) of the
difference between (i) the contractual amounts to be paid pursuant to the in-place leases and (i) management'’s
estimate of current market lease rates for the corresponding in-place leases, measured over a period equal to the
remaining non-cancelable terms of the respective leases. The fair values of above-market and below-market
leases were recorded as intangible assets or intangible liabilities, respectively, and are amortized as an
adjustment to rental income over the remaining non-cancelable terms of the respective leases.

The total value of identified real estate intangible assets acquired were further allocated to in-place lease
values, in-place tenant improvements, in-place leasing commissions and tenant relationships based on an
evaluation of the specific characteristics of the tenants’ leases and the overall relationship with the tenants. The
aggregate value for tenant improvements and leasing commissions were based on estimates of these costs
incurred at acquisition of the acquired leases, amortized through the date of acquisition. The aggregate value of
the in-place leases acquired and tenant relationships were determined by applying a fair value model. The
estimates of fair value of the in-place leases included an estimate of carrying costs during the expected lease-up
periods for the space considering current market conditions. In estimating the carrying costs that would have
otherwise been incurred had the leases not been in place, the Colorado Building included such items as real
estate taxes, insurance and other operating expenses as well as lost rental revenue during the expected lease-up
periods based on current market conditions. The estimates of fair value of the tenant relationships also included
costs to execute similar leases including leasing commissions, legal fees and tenant improvements as well as an
estimate of the likelihood of renewal as determined by the management on a tenant-by-tenant basis.

The value of the in-place leases and in-place tenant improvements are amortized to expense over the
initial terms of the respective leases. The value of tenant relationship intangibles is amortized to expense over
the initial term and any anticipated renewal periods, but in no event does the amortization period for intangible
assets exceed the remaining depreciable life of the building. Should a tenant terminate its lease, the unamortized
portion of the related lease intangibles would be charged to expense.

Real estate is stated at the lower of depreciated cost or net realizable value. In accordance with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment and Disposal of Long-
Lived Assets, impairment losses on long-lived assets used in operations will be recorded when events and
circumstances indicate that the assets might be impaired and the estimated undiscounted cash flows, without
interest charges ta be generated by those assets are less than the carrying amounts of those assets. The property
in reviewed periodically to determine if its carrying costs will be recovered from future operating cash flows. In
cases where the carrying costs are not expected to be recovered, an impairment loss will be recognized.

Maintenance and repairs are charged to operations as incurred; major renewals and betterments are

capitalized. Upon the sale or disposition of a fixed asset, the asset and the related accumulated depreciation will
be removed from the accounts and the gain or loss will be reflected in net income.
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Cash and Cash Equivalents

For purposes of reporting cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and investments
with maturities of three months or less when purchased.

Concentration of Credit Risk

At various times throughout the year, cash and cash equivalents are maintained in accounts with various
financial institutions in excess of the amount insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. The
financial stability of these financial institutions is regularly monitored and management does not believe there is
a significant credit risk associated with deposits in excess of federally insured amounts.

Restricted Cash

Cash held in escrow includes deposits held for future building improvements and deposits for real estate
taxes.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Accounts receivable are reduced by an allowance for amounts estimated to be uncollectible. Accounts
receivable consists primarily of accrued rental rate increases to be received over the life of in-place leases as
well as rents and operating cost recoveries due from tenants. The adequacy of the allowance for doubtful
accounts is regularly evaluated, considering factors such as the credit quality of tenants, delinquency of
payments, historical trends and current economic conditions.

Rental Revenue

Rental income is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the leases as earned. Tenant
reimbursement income represents operating costs passed through to tenants and is recorded as earned.
Accruable rental income represents rental income earned in excess of rent payments received pursuant to the
terms of the lease agreements. The aggregate net rental revenue increase resulting from straight-line
adjustments was approximately $76,398 for the period from August 10, 2004 (date of acquisition) through
December 31, 2004.

Income Taxes

No provision for income taxes is necessary in these financial statements because, as a tenant-in-common
interest, the tax effect of its activities accrues to the individual tenant-in-common interest holders.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of combined financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
combined financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Commitments and Contingencies
From time to time, the tenant-in-common may be exposed to litigation arising from operations of our

business in the ordinary course of business. Management does not believe that resolution of these matters will
have a material adverse impact on the combined financial condition or results of operations.
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Risks and Uncertainties

The tenants-in-common are exposed to the impact in the creditworthiness of our tenants. These risks
are managed by regularly evaluating the risk exposure, and taking the appropriate measures to mitigate the risks.

3. Real Estate

Real estate is comprised of the following at December 31, 2004:

Land $ 13,328,000
Building and improvements 30,520,457

43,848,457
Accumulated depreciation (405,256)
Real estate, net $ 43443201

Depreciation expense for the period from August 10, 2004 (date of acquisition) through December 31,
2004 was $405,256.

4.  Acquired Lease Intangibles and Acquired Below Market Lease Intangibles

Acquired lease intangibles are comprised of the following at December 31, 2004:

Above market lease intangibles $ 802,074
In-place leases 1,801,110
In-place tenant improvements 2,155,828
Customer relationship intangibles 1,400,970

6,159,982
Accumulated amortization (315,239)
Acquired lease intangibles $ 5,844,743

Acquired below market lease intangibles are comprised of the following at December 31, 2004:

Acquired below market lease intangibles $ 1,857,010
Accumulated amortization (111,903)
Acquired below market lease intangibles, net $ 1,745,107

Amortization (accretion) of $256,018 and ($61,465) is included in depreciation and amortization and
rental income, respectively, on the accompanying combined statement of operations for the period from
August 10, 2004 (date of acquisition) through December 31, 2004.

5. Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are comprised of the following at December 31, 2004:

Rents and services receivable $ 229,607
Accruable rental income 76,398

306,005
Allowance for doubtful accounts (16,491)
Accounts receivable, net $ 289,514
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Bad debt expense for the period from August 10, 2004 (date of acquisition) through December 31, 2004 of
$16,491 was included in general and operating expenses on the accompanying statement of operations.

6.  Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities are comprised of the following at December 31, 2004:

Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 409,998
Accrued property taxes 159,654
Total accounts payable and accrued labilities $ 569,652

7.  Tenant Security Deposits and Prepaid Rent

Tenant security deposits and prepaid rent consists of the following amounts as of December 31, 2004:

Tenant security deposits $ 202,705

Prepaid rent 23,432

Total tenant security deposits and prepaid rent $ 226,137
8.  Leasing Activities

The Colorado Building leases the building to tenants under operating leases with termination dates
extending through the year 2013. Minimum future rentals on noncancelable leases for tenants occupying space
at December 31, 2004, excluding tenant reimbursements for increases in operating expenses, are as follows:

2005 $ 3,768,202
2006 3,769,730
2007 3,676,648
2008 3,068,800
2009 2,392,386
Thereafter 5,074,429

$ 21,750,195

64% of total revenues relates to 4 tenants who occupy approximately 64% of the available space in the Colorado
Building.

9, Items not reflected in combined financial statements

In connection with the acquisition of the Colorado Building, each tenant-in-common interest holder is
party to a $28,000,000 mortgage loan that is collateralized by each tenant-in-common interest holder’s
undivided interest in the Colorado Building. The mortgage loan bears interest at an annual rate of 6.075% and
requires monthly interest-only payments until October 2009, at which time monthly payments of principal and
interest in the amount of $71,926 are required. The loan matures in 2014 and is subject to certain debt service
coverage ratio requirements, with which the Colorado Building is compliant as of December 31, 2004. Interest
expense on this mortgage loan was $663,694 for the period ending December 31, 2004. The mortgage loan and
related interest expense is not reflected in these combined financial statements as the debt is jointly and
severally liable to each tenant-in-common interest holder and is not the responsibility of the combined tenant-in-
common interest holders.
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Aggregate principal payments on the mortgage loan at December 31, 2004 are due as follows:

2005 $

2006 -

2007 -

2008 -

2009 78,102

Thereafter 27,921,898
$ 28,000,000

Behringer Harvard TIC Management Services LP (the “Property Manager”), an affiliate of the REIT, has
the sole and exclusive right to manage, operate, lease, and supervise the overall maintenance of the Colorado
Building. Under the terms of the Management Agreement, the Property Manager receives a property
management fee equal to 3.0% of the monthly gross revenues of the Colorado Building. The Management
Agreement with the Property Manager shall terminate on the earlier of (i) the sale of the Colorado Building, (ii)
failure by the tenants in common to renew the Management Agreement beyond December 31, 2004 and each
anniversary of such date thereafter or (iii) December 31, 2025. Total management fees earned by the Property
Manager from August 10, 2004 through December 31, 2004 were $40,986. These fees are not reflected in the
accompanying combined financial statements as the fees are the responsibility of the individual tenant-in-
common interest holders.

The Colorado Building also pays Behringer Advisors, our affiliate, an annual advisor asset management
fee of 0.5% of the aggregate value of the assets of the Colorado Building. Total asset management fees earned
by Behringer Advisors during the period from August 10, 2004 through December 31, 2004 were $4,667. These
fees are not reflected in the accompanying combined financial statements as the fees are the responsibility of the
individual tenant-in-common interest holders.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

on Financial Statement Schedule

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Behringer Harvard REIT I, Inc.:

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements referred to in our report dated March 31, 2005, included in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K, also included an audit of the financial statement schedule listed in Item
15(a)(2) of this Form 10-K. In our opinion, this financial statement schedule presents fairly, in all material
respects, the information set forth therein when read in conjunction with the related consolidated financial
statements.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Dallas, Texas
March 31, 2005
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Behringer Harvard REIT [, Inc.
Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation
Schedule IH
December 31, 2004

Cost capitalized ~ Gross amount
Initial cost subsequent caried at Accumulated  Year of Date Depreciable

Property Name  Encumbirances Land Building toacquisiion  close of period (1) depreciaion  construction  acquired life
Cyprus Building ~ § §2,056,361 $15.500,115 § -8 175%6476 3 - 1988 1211602004 25 years

Englewood, Colorado

(1) The aggregate cost of real estate owned at December 31, 2004 for federal income tax purposes was approximately $17,556,476 {unaudited).
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS

As Independent Directors of Behringer Harvard REIT |, Inc. (the
“Company”), we have reviewed the policies being followed by
the Company and believe they are in the best interest of its
stockholders. The basis for this conclusion is outlined below in

the analysis of the policies in place.

The Company has developed a system of policies and procedures
designed to enable the objectives of the Company (as outlined
in the Company’s Charter) to be achieved. These policies cover,
among other things, investments in properties, administration,

and raising capital.

Investment policies include provisions to generally ensure that
investments are made in quality properties. The policies related
to sites include requirements for (i) independent appraisals of
each propenty, (i) physical site inspection and review by a qualified
associate of Behringer Advisors LP, the Company’s advisor, (iii) an
environmental assessment, and (iv) site evaluation and analysis
regarding relevant. real property and financial factors, area
demographics, and other necessary information and data. Site
policies also include title examination and review of surveys. In
addition, review of the credit quality of significant tenants of

each property is conducted. Further, the titles to properties

purchased by the Company are insured by appropriate title
insurance policies and/or abstract opinions consistent with
normal practices in the jurisdictions in which the properties are
located. Also, the Company has established policies related to
acceptable lease terms and structures. These policies are

designed to reduce investment risks.

We have reviewed the Annual Report and related party transactions
as outlined in Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements and, in our opinion, the related party transactions
are fair and reasonable to the Company and its stockholders,
and the terms of such transactions are not less favorable to the

Company than those available from unaffiliated third parties.

VALUATION DISCUSSION

In order for NASD members and their associated persons to
participate in the offering and sale of shares of common stock
pursuant to our ongoing public offering of shares of our common
stock, we are required pursuant to NASD Rule 2710(c)(6) to
disclose in each annual report distributed to stockholders a per
share estimated value of the shares, the method by which it was
developed, and the date of the data used to develop the
estimated value. In addition, we prepare annual statements of

estimated share values to assist fiduciaries of retirement plans




subject to the annual reporting requirements of ERISA in the
preparation of their reports relating to an investment in our
shares. For these purposes, our estimated value of the shares is
$10 per share as of December 31, 2004. The basis for this
valuation is the fact that the current public offering price for our
shares is $10 per share (ignoring purchase price discounts for
certain categories of purchasers). However, there is no public
trading market for the shares at this time, and there can be no
assurance that stockholders would receive $10 per share if
such a market did exist and they sold their shares or that they
will be able to receive such amount for their shares in the future.
Nor does this estimated value reflect the distributions that
stockholders would be entitled to receive if our properties were
sold and the sale proceeds were distributed upon liquidation of
our company. Such a distribution upon liquidation is likely to be
less than $10 per share primarily due to the fact that the funds
initially available for investment in properties were reduced from
the gross offering proceeds in order to pay selling commissions
and dealer manager fees, organization and offering expenses,
and acquisitions and advisory fees, as described in more detail
in the accompanying financial statements. We do not currently

anticipate obtaining appraisals for the properties we acquire,

and accordingly, the estimated values should not be viewed as
an accurate reflection of the fair market value of those properties,
nor do they represent the amount of net proceeds that would
result from an immediate sale of those properties. During the
current offering period and for the three full fiscal years after the
complefion of our offering stage, we expect to use the offering
price of our shares in our most recent offering as the estimated
per share value reported in our annual reports;
provided, however, that if we have sold property and haVe made
one or more special distributions to stockholders of all or a
portion of the net proceeds from such sales, the net asset value
per share will be egual to the offering price in our most recent
offering less the amount of net sale proceeds per share distributed
to investors as a result of the sale of such property. (We view our
offering stage as complete upon the termination of our first public
equity offering that is not followed by another public equity
offering. For purposes of this definition, we do not consider a
“public equity offering” to include offerings on behalf of selling
stockholders or offerings related to a dividend reinvestment
plan, employee benefit plan or the redemption of interests in our
subsidiary operating limited partnership, Behringer Harvard

Operating Partnership | LP)
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